

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Revisiting gifted education

Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation





'In the past ... the job of schools was to identify talent, and let it rise to the top. The demand for skill and talent was sufficiently modest that it did not matter that potentially able individuals were ignored. The demand for talent and skill is now so great, however, that schools have to be talent incubators, and even talent factories. It is not enough to identify talent in our schools any more; we have to create it' (Wiliam 2011).

Table of contents

1. Introduction	4
2. Understanding giftedness and talent development	5
Learning characteristics	6
Social and emotional characteristics	7
Gifted student achievement and underachievement	8
3. Gifted students from diverse backgrounds	9
Gifted students with an Aboriginal background	9
Gifted students from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds	10
Gifted students with disability	10
Gifted students from a disadvantaged socioeconomic (SES) background	11
Gifted students in rural and remote areas	12
Gifted students in early childhood	12
4. Effective strategies for gifted learners	13
Assessment of learning needs	13
What does the evidence base recommend for assessing and identifying learning needs?	14
Acceleration and advanced progression	15
Curriculum differentiation for gifted students	16
Ability grouping for gifted programs	17
Enrichment and extracurricular programs	18
5. Professional Learning	19
6. Conclusion	19
7. References	20

1. Introduction

Education should assist 'each child to achieve his or her educational potential' (Education Act NSW 1990). However, recent research and systemic student achievement data shows that many students with high potential are not reaching the full extent of their ability. Contemporary studies have shown that many high ability students from disadvantaged backgrounds miss out on access to advanced learning programs. As a result, there are significant achievement gaps for students from disadvantaged backgrounds when compared with other groups of students. Coupled with recent developments in gifted education and talent development research, this makes it timely to review the evidence base for teaching high potential, high achieving students.

It is now well understood that all learners need a supportive learning environment, and that all need to feel a sense of success, wellbeing and belonging in order to achieve. Like all students, advanced learners benefit from effective teaching strategies that have been shown to promote high levels of achievement growth and that are targeted at their level of readiness for learning (Kyriakides, Christoforou & Charalambous 2013). High expectations, explicit teaching strategies, formative assessment, and well-structured and sequenced learning experiences are just as important for gifted students as they are for all learners. For students who have advanced learning capacity for their age, however, evidence shows that additional support is needed to ensure that they can reach the full extent of their educational potential (Gallagher 2004; Plucker, Burroughs & Song 2010). Many high potential learners significantly underachieve (Reis & McCoach 2000) and can be bored or under-challenged at school (Gallagher, Harradine & Coleman 2010; Cross & Cross 2017). In particular, gifted students from disadvantaged groups are less likely to achieve as highly as their more advantaged peers, which research suggests is directly attributable to fewer advanced learning opportunities, as well as social inequity (Goss & Sonnemann 2016; Henfield, Woo & Bang 2017).

Our understanding of what works best specifically for gifted students continues to improve, and is backed by a strengthening field of research on effective practice (Robinson, Shore & Enersen 2007; Plucker & Callahan 2014). There is a range of specific strategies and programs that can help schools meet the additional needs of gifted learners, which may otherwise be missed in a typical classroom (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel & Olszewski-Kubilius 2016). Critically, there is a link between the use of these strategies by teachers and improved academic and social outcomes for gifted students (Finn & Wright 2015; Benny & Blonder 2016).

This literature review synthesises the best available research evidence on the education of gifted and high potential students. It provides guidance on how schools and teachers can best ensure that all learners – regardless of their background – have the greatest opportunity to reach their educational potential.



2. Understanding giftedness and talent development

The word gifted is a traditional term that is often used interchangeably with others such as 'high ability' or 'advanced learners' (Gross 2004). Gifted students are those who have the potential for outstanding achievement that is above the expected level for students their age. These students are typically advanced in their development, and may demonstrate the capacity to think, learn, and work like students who are older (Ruthsatz et al. 2014; Leikin, Leikin & Waisman 2017). For example, a ten-year-old student who is gifted may have the potential to learn harder content, and skills that are expected of students aged twelve or fourteen. Additionally, some students may already be able to demonstrate achievement at or above their grade level at the start of a new school year (Peters et al. 2019). Newer research attributes these differences to brain development in gifted students that is advanced when compared to students the same age (Kalbfleisch 2008; Subotnik, Olszeski-Kubilius & Worrell 2011). Gifted students are found in all parts of society, and across diverse cultures and socioeconomic groups (Ford, Coleman & Davis 2014; Plucker & Peters 2016). The potential for gifted students to make highly significant contributions to our community and economy as a result of their development is well documented (McCann 2005; Park, Lubinski & Benbow 2007).

Estimates of giftedness within a population vary, and can depend on the specific definitions used (McBee & Mabel 2019). Prominent French-Canadian researcher Francoys Gagné (1998) suggests that gifted students comprise the top 10% of all students and can show talent across a range of domains, such as academic, creative, interpersonal, and physical fields of endeavour. Differences in learning needs exist within and across students in the gifted range, with more advanced students requiring greater learning support (Reis & Renzulli 2009). Highly (top <1%) gifted students are by definition less frequent and more significantly advanced when compared to their age peers (Gagné 1998), with greater learning needs as a result (Goldstein et al. 1999; Lubinski 2016). As these students are less common in an average school, it is statistically less likely that all teachers will encounter highly or exceptionally gifted students on a regular basis, and may encounter very few across the span of an entire teaching career (Gross 2004).

While the exact number or percentage of gifted students is still debated in research, it may be more important for schools to identify the learning needs of students with high potential and/ or high achievement, no matter the number or percentage in their context. Sometimes referred to as 'bright' or 'advanced' students, many more students may benefit from additional challenge, extension, and enrichment to meet the needs of their high potential, even if they do not directly meet the traditional criteria or definition of giftedness (Peters 2016; Plucker, Hardesty & Burroughs 2013). While all students clearly benefit from learning tasks that provide them with an appropriate level of challenge and support to develop their full potential, more advanced interventions such as acceleration may not be suitable for all (Callahan 2009; Peters et al. 2014). Research shows the importance of using ongoing formative assessment to assess the current level of student mastery and skill development,

as this can vary within students who are traditionally identified as gifted based on a point-in-time assessment. Thus, it is important not to think of students as 'gifted or not', but rather to view ability as a continuum where higher levels of ability and achievement will need more significant adjustments, interventions, and advanced learning experiences (Renzulli 1994; Gentry 2009).

The process of a student moving from high potential to high achievement is known as talent development (Gagné 2011). Talent development specifically refers to the process by which, over time, students develop through stages of competency to expertise and outstanding achievement in a field or domain (Olszewski-Kubilius, Subotnik & Worrell 2017). Depending on the field, talent can take many years to develop to a high level, and can go through phases of early and later specialisation. Research over the last decade has shifted from referring to 'gifted and talented students' to 'gifted education and talent development'. In Gagne's Differentiated Model of Giftedness and Talent (2009), giftedness is defined as the potential or raw materials, and talent is high achievement or the 'finished product'.

Competing theories exist about how gifted students develop their higher potential into high levels of achievement. It is likely that a combination of factors is involved (Lubinski 2016), such as deliberate practice (Ericsson et al. 1993), mindset or beliefs (Duckworth et al. 2007; Siegle, McCoach & Roberts 2017), and opportunities to learn (Ford & Antoinette 1997; Plucker & Peters 2016). Considerable research has been conducted across many fields to find the best ways to develop talent and high achievement (Gulbin et al. 2013; Jung & Evans 2016). Longitudinal research into the developmental trajectories of gifted children shows that many go on to achieve greatly throughout their adult lives, but that specific support and learning experiences were required to help this happen (Bloom 1985; Shurkin 1992).

Gagné's Differentiated Model of Giftedness and Talent (2009) provides a framework for understanding the internal and external drivers of talent development. In Gagné's model, the raw materials of potential and ability need development through explicit learning experiences, in order to reach an outstanding level of talent. A mix of formal and informal learning, as well as the practice of domain-related skills, form part of this developmental process. Gagné also identifies the role of internal and external forces on developing talent. Environmental catalysts, such as teachers, schools, and learning programs, can help to foster the development of talent. Likewise, internal forces, such as motivation, effort, and learning skills, also play important parts in the development of expertise. Without learning processes, support, and effort, Gagné argues that gifted students will not develop to become outstanding achievers by themselves.

Learning characteristics

Teachers have always known that some students are able to learn more challenging concepts and learn faster than other students the same age. Recent neuroscientific research can help us understand why this is so, and thus better understand the learning characteristics of gifted students (Leikin et al. 2017). Advances in brain imaging have helped to improve our understanding of how high potential and gifted learners differ in their cognitive development and learning. This in turn has improved our understanding of intelligence, ability and talent development (Willis, Dumont & Kaufman 2011; Subotnik, Olszeski-Kubilius & Worrell 2011).

Modern factor-analytic models of intelligence, such as the Cattell-Horn-Carroll model, incorporate fluid and crystallised intelligence as a general concept across broad and narrow abilities. These abilities include specific cognitive skills, such as processing speed, fluid reasoning, and quantitative skills, as well as physical, musical and creative abilities. Different levels of these broad and narrow skills contribute to a person's overall general ability and intelligence, and help to account for why two students with similar general ability may have different aptitudes for different subject areas.

Some key findings from research include:

- Gifted students' brains can have a similar level of operational function to older students (O'Boyle 2008; Geake 2009b; Leikin et al. 2017).
- Advanced neural development in the brains of students is associated with measures of intelligence and general ability (Andreason et al. 1993; Wilke et al. 2003; Shaw et al. 2006; Penke et al. 2012).
- Advanced brain development can include differences such as denser grey matter, greater surface area and neural activation, faster neural efficiency, and greater plasticity (Andreason et al. 1993; O'Boyle et al. 2005; Narr et al. 2007; Karama et al. 2011; Hoppe et al. 2011; Leikin, Leikin & Waisman 2017; Navas-Sanchez et al. 2017).
- Gifted students can often apply more cognitive resources to thinking and learning processes (Alexander, O'Boyle & Benbow 1996; O'Boyle et al. 2005; Geake 2009b; Hoppe et al. 2011).
- Gifted individuals can typically apply their advanced thinking and learning skills across a range of areas (Carroll 2003; Willis, Dumont & Kaufman 2011; Leikin et al. 2017).

These differences help to justify the need for advanced content, greater speed, and more complexity in learning tasks for gifted students when compared to students the same age. These differences are also associated with a number of learning characteristics typical of gifted students:

• The potential for greater analytical depth (Carson, Peterson & Higgins 2003; Geake & Dodson 2005; Gross 2009; Hoh 2014)

- The ability to process information, thought and learning in a faster or more efficient manner, requiring fewer repetitions for mastery (Haier et al. 1988; Haier & Benbow 1995; Geake 2006; O'Boyle 2008; Hoh 2014; Leikin, Leikin & Waisman 2017)
- Greater capability in a range of cognitive skills, such as fluid reasoning, creative thinking, memory and abstract reasoning (O'Boyle et al. 2005; Geake & Hansen 2005; Geake & Dodson 2005; Geake 2008, 2009b; Prescott et al. 2010; Desco et al. 2011; Hoppe et al. 2011; Navas-Sanchez et al. 2016)
- The ability to make inter-subject connections with relative ease and seek 'top-down' understanding when learning (Clark 1997, Kanevsky & Geake 2004; Geake & Dodson 2005).

Although gifted students may have an advanced capacity for learning and thinking skills that can be applied across a broad range of subjects, areas of personal interest and motivation are more likely to see the greatest growth and development (McCoach et al. 2017). These differences in learning characteristics can manifest across a range of domains, including academic, creative and performing arts, leadership, and sporting endeavours (Gagne 2009). However, further research is needed to help us understand the full applications of neuroscience to the classroom (Thomas, Ansari & Knowland 2019).

Recent research into cognitive load theory (Kirshner, Sweller & Clark 2006) has also improved our understanding of how gifted students learn. As working memory plays a critical part in learning new information, the greater processing capacity of students with higher intelligence (Engle et al. 1999; Vandervert 2009) can help them progress faster and with greater complexity (de Jong 2010; Baddeley 2010). Cognitive load-oriented teaching strategies, such as explicit instruction and worked examples, are just as necessary for gifted students to learn new skills and content as for all students (Carroll 1994). However, high ability students may be able to move through heavily-structured learning more quickly and can then go broader and deeper into concepts and topics. A learning effect known as the 'expertise reversal effect' shows us that over-scaffolding can be counter productive once students have gained expertise (Yeung, Jin & Sweller 1998; Leslie et al. 2012). Once the basics have been mastered, research suggests that it is better to transition to more independent problem-solving tasks in order to further learning (Pachman, Sweller & Kalyuga 2013).

Social and emotional characteristics

Differences in academic potential or achievement between gifted learners and their age peers, and mismatches between students and their learning environment, can contribute to gifted learners experiencing social and emotional challenges. This can have an impact on learning and achievement via boredom and disengagement, as well as cause personal distress and difficulty for some gifted students (Gallagher, Harradine & Coleman 1997; Eliyahu, Linnenbrink-Garcia & Putallaz 2017).

There is debate over the incidence and intensity of social and emotional distress experienced by gifted students in their development (Neihart 1999; Wiley & Hébert 2014). Gallucci, Middleton & Kline (1999) present a view that gifted students are at least as well-adjusted as their peers. This positive level of adjustment is particularly the case when gifted students have their personal and learning needs met and they are supported to flourish and achieve highly (Subotnik, Olszewski-Kubilius & Worrell 2011; Lubinski 2016). These findings differ from research conducted late last century that used samples of students who sought psychological support for their individual problems (Amini 2005; Prekel et al. 2015).

However, gifted students may face specific social and emotional challenges if their learning needs are not met. Boredom is a critical issue for gifted students as it has a strong negative effect on academic achievement (Pekrun et al. 2014), while engagement is correlated with mental wellbeing and positive personal adjustment in gifted students (Hoekman 2009).

A lack of suitable learning challenge can contribute strongly to feelings of tedium and disengagement, causing students to 'switch off' and potentially find other distractions (Sisk 1988; Gallagher, Harradine & Coleman 1997). Learning tasks or assignments that are too easy may also mean that students do not get the opportunity to develop the learning skills or academic resilience required to manage more complex and challenging tasks (Umbreit, Lane & Dejud 2004). Minimal appropriate challenge can contribute to a mindset where, based on their learning experiences to date, gifted learners feel that success should come easily (Dai, Moon & Feldhusen 2011; Dweck 2012). This may contribute to evidence that suggests there is a higher incidence of perfectionist learning behaviours amongst gifted individuals (Speirs-Neumeister 2016). While some perfectionist behaviours can be helpful for learning and achievement, others can be a concern if they begin to interfere with learning and wellbeing in a maladaptive way (Corson et al. 2018).

High-ability learners can also experience asynchronous development, where intellectual or talent capabilities develop faster and in a more advanced way than their physical, social, or emotional abilities (Hollingworth 1931; Roeper 1982). This may cause frustration when students can think of advanced ideas or concepts, such as a vision for a story or an artwork, but their skills are not yet sufficiently developed to achieve their vision (Grant & Piechowski 1999). The challenges of asynchronous development can be more profound with students of exceptional ability, for whom the gap between ideas and skills may be even greater (Gross 2004).





Gifted student achievement and underachievement

Underachievement is defined in the literature as a significant discrepancy between potential and performance (Ford 1998), and is one of the most significant and common problems faced by gifted students (Reis & McCoach 2000). Typical estimates of the percentage of significantly underachieving gifted students range from 10% (Wills & Munro 2001) to 40% (Seeley 1993), with some individual studies showing as high as 57% of gifted students not performing to their potential (Peterson & Colangelo 1996). Levels of underachievement can be much more pronounced amongst students from disadvantaged groups in society (Ford & Antoinette 1997). While underachievement crosses all social and cultural boundaries, the reasons for underachievement can vary greatly: the contributing causes of underachievement need to be identified in each context so that they can be addressed effectively (Cross et al. 2018). Further research is needed to understand the influence of specific individual and school factors that lead to underachievement (White, Graham & Blass, 2018).

As a result of underachievement, many gifted students do not subsequently contribute the full extent of their potential to their communities and the economy more broadly (Borland 1989; McCann 2005). Advanced achievement on major international tests has been shown to correlate with greater quantities of science innovation, economic output, Nobel prizes, rates of patent registration, and volume of high-technology product development exports, when adjusted for population size (Rindermann 2007; Rindermann & Thompson 2011). There is a clear opportunity cost for innovation in a future high-technology economy should current rates of high-level achievement continue to decline (Gallagher 2002).

Concerns exist over stagnating or falling rates of high achievement among Australian students. Recent national and international assessments have shown that the proportion of students in Australia achieving highly has either plateaued or declined over the past two decades on some measures. Figure 1 shows Australia's declining proportion of students achieving in the highest range on the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) from 2000 to 2015. In a recent review of gifted education offerings in Australia, Walsh and Jolly (2018) stated 'that despite pockets of excellence, gifted education in Australia remains fragmented and inconsistent, reliant more on the goodwill of principals, and the efforts of a few dedicated teachers and parent advocates, rather than on a well-designed systematic approach' (p. 87).

Students whose underachievement may be attributed to inadequate provision of opportunity at school have been referred to as 'involuntary underachievers' (Siegle & McCoach 2002). Lack of challenge at school can be a major factor in underachievement, and can contribute to boredom and disengagement (Sisk 1988). Unchallenged gifted students may also become 'selective consumers', whereby students decide to disengage from school if they feel that their learning needs are not met, and instead seek stimulation and achievement elsewhere (Figg et al. 2012). In studies of exemplary teachers who supported high achieving students, it was found that expert content knowledge, feedback, supportive learning environments, and teacher enthusiasm were keys to gifted student motivation, learning and engagement (Ayres, Sawyer & Dinham 2004; Gentry et al. 2011).



Figure 1 – Australian high achievement in PISA over time, 2000-2015

3. Gifted students from diverse backgrounds

Gifted students come from all social and cultural backgrounds. Research shows, however, that students from minority populations tend to be proportionately under-represented in many international gifted education programs (Ford 1998; Card & Giuliano 2016a). Gifted students from disadvantaged groups are more likely to underachieve when compared to similarability peers (Olszewski-Kubilius et al. 2004). This difference in high-level achievement outcomes, or 'excellence gap' (Burroughs & Plucker 2014; Hardesty, McWilliams & Plucker 2014), often starts early and can widen as a student progresses through school (Morgan et al. 2016; Steenbergen-Hu & Olszewski-Kubilius 2017).

Differences in outcomes for gifted students from diverse backgrounds can be due to many causes, including under- or non-identification of ability, low expectations, socioeconomic disadvantage, or barriers to accessing programs (Dixson, Robertson & Worrell 2017; Kettler & Hurst 2017). Research shows that effective use of selected strategies can help gifted students from diverse backgrounds 'close the gap' through greater representation and more equitable outcomes (Tomlinson & Jarvis 2014; Card & Giuliano 2016b; Ecker-Lyster & Niileksela 2017). Earlier intervention by teachers and school programs can help to ensure that excellence gaps in achievement do not open up in the first place.

Gifted students with an Aboriginal background

Understandings of giftedness can vary between and within cultures (Callahan & McIntire 1994; Thraves & Bannister-Tyrell 2017). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples can have a different and more complex cultural conception of giftedness. Interpersonal and spatial skills, independence and self-reliance, and cultural knowledge can be highly valued in this context (Vasilevska 2005; Bevan-Brown 2011). The cooperative nature of Aboriginal societies may mean that some students do not wish to 'show off' their intelligence or stand out above others (Vialle & Gibson 2007). It is important for teachers and students to use this cultural context as a point of reference in learning (Garvis 2006).

Research shows that gifted Aboriginal students experience achievement gaps in the high achievement range. For example, Figure 2 shows that a lower percentage of Aboriginal students achieve in the highest achievement range for mathematics in the international PISA assessments. Chaffey and colleagues (2003, 2011) suggest that the main reason behind Aboriginal underachievement is a lack of identification as these students are often 'invisible' underachievers, and may be mis-identified as average-ability by teachers (Merrotsy 2013). The use of more dynamic assessment methods (Chaffey, Bailey & Vine 2015) or non-verbal tests of ability, such as the visual-based Raven's Progressive Matrices (Pearson 2012) may support the assessment of Aboriginal students and help overcome language or cultural differences. Greater professional development on the identification and needs of high-ability Aboriginal students can also improve the practices of teachers in this regard (Chessman 2006).



Source: ACER PISA reports, 2000-2015.

Gifted students from diverse cultural and linguistic backgrounds

The experiences of gifted students from non-English speaking backgrounds are likely to differ significantly, depending not only on their level of English skills, but also on their particular cultural background, beliefs and socioeconomic status (Sriprakash, Proctor & Hu 2016; Ho 2017). Extensive research has shown that students from some cultural backgrounds are often under-represented in gifted education programs (Campbell et al. 2007; Ford et al. 2011) and that some cultural groups may experience greater levels of economic disadvantage (Goings & Ford 2018). The use of culturally-sensitive criteria when selecting English language learning students for gifted programs can assist with the issue of representation, as can specific English language support when in school (Lohman, Korb & Lakin 2008; Matthews & Farmer 2017).

Gifted students from non-English speaking backgrounds may experience specific challenges when learning English as an additional language or dialect at school (Blackburn, Cornish & Smith 2016). Students may experience frustration at feeling 'slow' when required to learn in a newly acquired language whilst adapting to a new culture and school system (Rance-Roney 2004). Language barriers may also impede verbal-based identification measures and teacher identification, which can contribute to problems of under-representation in gifted programs (Gonzalez 2002; Elhoweris et al. 2005). Care needs to be taken with the use of assessments for students who are learning English as their second language, especially those from disadvantaged backgrounds (Lohman, Korb & Lakin 2008).

Gifted students with disability

In an extensive review of the empirical evidence concerning gifted learners with disability, Foley-Nicpon and colleagues conclude 'that the research clearly demonstrates ... that gifted students can have a coexisting disability' (2011, p. 13), which may be a barrier to these students reaching their full potential. Gifted students with disability, also referred to in the field as twice-exceptional (or 2e) students, are defined as 'students who demonstrate the potential for high achievement or creative productivity ... [and] who manifest one or more disabilities as defined by federal or state eligibility criteria' (Reis, Baum & Burke 2014, p. 222). Nonetheless, conflicting attitudes or myth-based beliefs can be harmful to these students and their families (Vaughn 1989; Mayes & Moore 2016).

Recent research by Maddocks (2018) shows the need for gifted students with disability to be assessed and identified by using multiple methods and alternate assessments that can help to demonstrate the gap between their academic potential and their actual achievement. Gifted students with disability often underachieve due to lack of identification, a lack of appropriate educational programming and support, and lack of strategies in schools to meet their social and emotional needs (Wormald & Vialle 2011; Foley-Nicpon et al. 2011). Longitudinal studies of the school journey of gifted students with disability show clearly that support for both giftedness and disability is required to help these students achieve their best (Cain, Kaboski & Gilger 2019). Support for high-ability learners with disabilities can often focus only on ameliorating the disability, whereas strength-based and talent-focused approaches can be combined with adjustments and support for disability to foster achievement and talent development (Baum, Schader & Hebert 2014; Foley-Nicpon, Assouline & Fosenburg 2015).



Gifted students from a disadvantaged socioeconomic (SES) background

The under-representation and underachievement of socioeconomically disadvantaged students in gifted programs is a consistent problem internationally (Ford 1998; Olszewski-Kubilius & Thomson 2010). In general, research shows that high-ability students from low-SES backgrounds are more likely not to achieve their potential and are at greater risk of being left behind socially and economically (Dai & Worrell 2016; Plucker & Peters 2016). This includes a depressed achievement trajectory through school and a lower chance of graduation from school or university (Wyner, Bidgeland & Dilulio 2009; Hoxby & Avery 2013). Research shows that students in low-SES areas are less likely to have access to gifted education programs at their schools, such as extension classes or enrichment programs (Dai & Worrell 2016).

Problems with assessment and identification practices may lead to fewer low-SES students being identified and selected for gifted student programs (Hodges et al. 2018), meaning they miss out on the programs that may benefit them the most (Loveless 2014). A study by Hamilton et al. (2018) showed that bright but disadvantaged students in lower SES areas were less likely to be identified or nominated than similar students in more average schools.

Much of the excellence gap in achievement can be attributed to fewer opportunities to learn (Hardesty, McWilliams & Plucker 2014). Over time, this results in significant differences in rates of advanced achievement, where opportunity gaps lead directly to achievement gaps (Plucker & Peters 2014). The additional costs associated with advanced extracurricular activities outside of school can be a significant barrier for students from families with limited capacity to pay, and this may make families more reliant on public schools to provide necessary access to appropriate learning and talent development (Thompson & King 2015; Wai & Rindermann 2017). In some cases, lower expectations that teachers and schools may hold of low-SES students may also affect the level of content and curriculum taught in these schools (Attewell & Thurston 2008; Kelly & Carbonaro 2012). Figures 3 and 4 illustrate the different levels of expectation for success reported by low- and high-SES students in a recent NSW analysis.

Specific programs that seek to identify and address the needs of underachieving and under-represented minority groups have been shown to produce positive outcomes that can help to close the achievement gap (Plucker & Peters 2016; Olszewski-Kubilius et al. 2017). Research by Turner and Juntune (2018) and Hebert (2018) shows the importance of high expectations plus school and family support to help gifted disadvantaged students achieve highly through school and beyond, including the use of mentoring programs that teach academic skills. Newer research on better, more flexible practices for assessment and grouping suggests that they may have significant benefits for gifted low-SES students (Loveless 2014; Card & Giuliano 2016a, 2016b). Figure 3 – Proportion of students reporting high expectations for success, by SES quartile, NSW government students, 2017



Figure 4 – Proportion of high-performing students reporting high expectations for success, by SES quartile, NSW government students, 2017



Source: CESE 2017, Tell Them From Me Survey data

Some students from disadvantaged backgrounds may miss out on regular enrichment activities such as excursions. An experimental study by Greene and colleagues (2018) examined the learning and social outcomes of rural students who saw a live theatre performance of the play they studied in class. Seeing the play as an enrichment activity had a significant and positive effect on learning and social outcomes when compared to the control group who did not attend the excursion. While an excursion to the theatre or a similar enrichment activity may be a relatively easy trip for some students and schools, factors such as distance, including associated logistics and costs, can make access to these learning activities much more challenging for gifted students from disadvantaged backgrounds.

Gifted students in rural and remote areas

Gifted students who do not live in metropolitan centres may require a different suite of options due to their isolated geographic location and smaller school size (Kettler, Puryear & Mullet 2016; Jung & Worrell 2017). These students may live a significant distance from other like-minded or similar-ability peers, which can contribute to feelings of social isolation and lack of opportunities for appropriate educational challenge (Woodward & Kalyan-Masih 1990). As these students and families may lack physical access to resources, educational support, jobs and appropriate mentors, some families may feel a need to move away from their community to seek a wider range of options (Howley et al. 1997; Lawrence 2009). It may also be necessary to address socioeconomic disadvantage factors that can contribute to achievement differences for gifted students in regional areas.

These barriers help explain differing patterns of enrolment and high achievement in rural areas (Hernandez-Torrano 2018). Due to the smaller numbers of students in some regional or remote schools, programs that rely on forms of whole class ability-grouping may not be practical (Gagnon & Mattingly 2016; VanTassel-Baska & Hubbard 2016). Instead, academic acceleration or curriculum differentiation may be better options for meeting the needs of smaller numbers of students (Howley et al. 2009; Callahan & Wu 2017). The use of online learning and virtual classrooms is one means of providing more advanced or accelerated learning, as well as connecting gifted learners with like-minded peers and mentors (Swan et al. 2015; Stoeger, Hopp & Ziegler 2017). This concept has been developed in New South Wales via Aurora College, an online-based academically selective school that uses virtual classroom technology to deliver extension lessons to gifted rural students, as well as professional learning to teachers in country schools. In a study by Potts (2019) of gifted rural US students attending virtual classrooms, while students saw little difference between physical and virtual classrooms and highly valued the access to advanced programs, they missed the 'inperson' social interactions.

Gifted students in early childhood

Like older gifted students, preschool-aged gifted children are characterised by developmental progression that is ahead of expected age norms (Gross 1999; Walsh et al. 2012). Particular differences in thinking, cognition, humour, and play may be evident from an early age (Roedell 1989; Harrison 2004). It is clear from the research evidence that it is possible to identify gifted students before entry to primary school (Terrassier 2011), but the process is challenging and complex (Robinson et al. 1997; Koshy & Robinson 2006).

Gifted and high-ability young children have a need to access developmentally appropriate learning that may be at a level typical of early primary school (Robinson et al. 2002; Maker & Schiever 2005). Unfortunately, research shows that high potential preschool students are often highly underserved and unrecognised (Hertzog 2014), with little extension or enrichment provided in many settings (Gross 2004; Kettler, Oveross & Salman 2017). Learning experiences that are challenging for gifted pre school children may not exist in some early childhood settings that are based on play alone, or in settings where the educational program quality is poor (Chamberlin et al. 2007; Coates et al. 2008).

Research supports the selected use of early entry to primary school for appropriate students (Gagne and Gagnier 2004) with a moderate positive effect size for academic and social outcomes (Rogers 2015). Extensive longitudinal studies of gifted children who enter school early show positive academic and social outcomes in the long term (Assouline et al. 2015). Like acceleration more broadly, however, early entry to school is not used frequently in practice, with social adjustment often cited as a reason for not accelerating a student (Rankin & Vialle 1996; Lupkowsi-Shoplik, Assouline & Colangelo 2015). Additional research is needed to assess the relative efficacy of other options for gifted children in early childhood settings (Kitano 1986; Walsh et al. 2012).



4. Effective strategies for gifted learners

Assessment of learning needs

Recent research has strengthened the case for why teachers need to use a range of assessment information to help target their teaching (Timperley 2009). Traditionally, research and policy have sought to identify or 'find' gifted students in order to provide appropriate learning experiences or place students in gifted education programs. There is now greater focus on assessing student learning needs and current levels of mastery so that learning can be made appropriately challenging (Südkamp, Kaiser & Möeller 2012; Peters 2016). Identifying a gifted student enables assessment of their learning potential. (Feldhusen, Asher & Hoover 1984; Richert 2003). However, for schools, assessment and identification can often be the most controversial aspect of gifted education (Moon 2012).

A broad range of assessment tools and measures can be used to help assess the level of student achievement and learning potential. These include ability tests, achievement tests, abovelevel assessments, rating scales, performance-based assessments, student portfolios, and dynamic assessments (Cao, Jung & Lee 2017). Importantly, the assessment processes used should align with the purpose of the learning programs that are provided (Hamilton et al. 2019). An initial assessment of student ability or potential by a teacher, parent, or school team can help to identify the learning needs of gifted students. Additionally, ongoing formative assessment can help individual teachers target their learning and identify students who need additional extension or challenge, especially if students can already demonstrate mastery at or above grade level (Peters et al. 2017). Concerns of teacher biases based on pre-conceived ideas of intelligence or culture have been raised in research (Siegle & Powell 2004; Bianco et al. 2011). Research does show that teachers can be significantly more effective and accurate in assessing gifted students particularly those from disadvantaged groups – if they have been trained in gifted education (Gear 1978; Rowley 2012).

The representation of students from minority backgrounds is an important issue to consider in assessment (Hardway & Marek-Schroer 1992). Flawed identification and assessment practices are believed to contribute significantly to the under-representation and underachievement of students from minority and lowsocioeconomic backgrounds, as well as gifted students with learning difficulties (McCoach et al. 2001). Some traditional assessment methods, especially those that rely on classroom achievement results alone, may mean that students from low socioeconomic backgrounds are less likely to be identified and selected for programs (Loveless 2014; Hamilton et al. 2018). The use of multiple methods, sometimes including non-traditional assessments of ability or performance, or additional consideration for disadvantage, is shown to help identify more students from disadvantaged backgrounds (Hodges et al. 2018). Comparing student achievement to that of other students with similar educational opportunities, characteristics, or backgrounds also known as using 'local norms' – may help to identify more students from under-represented groups (Peters et al. 2019). Student participation in suitable enrichment and extension activities can be a way of `talent spotting' (Robinson et al. 2018).

Recent research has shown that universal screening measures, where all students participate in a screening process or test rather than only those nominated by adults, are significantly more likely to identify more students from minority backgrounds as gifted (Card & Giuliano 2016a; McBee, Peters & Miller 2016). This is because screening takes away problems with a two-stage process that rely on nominations by teachers or applications by families that may not capture all bright students for assessment in the first place (Grissom & Redding 2016; Goings & Ford 2018). Research in New South Wales (2018) showed significant differences in the characteristics of students who nominated or applied for academically selective programs, which was a major factor in accounting for differences in student representation.

Culturally sensitive instruments such as the Coolabah Dynamic Assessment (Chaffey & Bailey 2009) may assist with some student groups. While non-verbal measures, such as Raven's Progressive Matrices (2000) have been traditionally recommended, care needs to be taken with how these scores are used, especially with English language learners (Lohman, Korb & Lakin 2008). In addition, identification measures that target spatial and rotational ability, rather than verbal or mathematical capacities, or dynamic assessment models (Lidza & Macrineb 2001), may help to identify more lower-SES students (Wai & Worrell 2016).

Assessing more students for gifted education programs can help to increase the representation of students from disadvantaged educational backgrounds. In 2005, Broward County Public Schools in Florida, USA, replaced an `opt-in' application process that required teacher or parent nomination, with universal screening a program where all students sat an assessment used to offer places in school gifted education classes. This change led to the identification of significantly more gifted students from diverse and disadvantaged backgrounds. Compared to the previous nomination-based system, the proportion of African-American students increased from 12% to 17%, Hispanic students increased from 16% to 27%, and economically-disadvantaged students increased from 20% to 35%. In total, this change led to a 180% increase in the numbers of disadvantaged students identified. While these proportions still fell short of the representations of students across the entire school district, this is an example of how school practices can help create more equitable outcomes for disadvantaged students (Card & Guiliano 2016a).

What does the evidence base recommend for assessing and identifying learning needs?

Assessing the learning needs of gifted students remains a complex and challenging area. The following list includes some general recommendations from research.

- Current best-practice in school-based identification and assessment is to use multiple measures – that is, a mix of qualitative, quantitative, objective, and observational methods – that have strong validity and reliability characteristics (Moon 2012; Acar et al. 2016) and to assess attributes and learning directly relevant to the gifted programs used (Hamilton et al., 2019).
- Relying on a single measure or method may miss students and create an imbalance in representation of students from disadvantaged backgrounds (Baker 2003; McBee, Peters & Waterman 2014). Research suggests that care needs to be taken with how the results from different assessments are combined, as expecting consistent high performance across all measures may eliminate more disadvantaged students (McBee, Peters & Waterman 2014).
- While ability tests can be useful to gauge a student's learning potential, achievement assessments can also help identify what students have already learned and where their mastery is at compared to the syllabus (Reis, Burns & Renzulli 1992). Combined with ongoing formative assessment, these assessments can inform teaching and learning programs to ensure that students are offered learning pitched at the right level and pace that challenges them.
- Different assessment and selection measures and criteria may need to be used to appropriately identify and assess students from disadvantaged backgrounds (Carman, Walther & Bartsch 2018; Olszewski-Kubilius & Corwith 2018) and students with disability (Maddocks 2018).

- Off-level assessments (tests or similar that are designed for older students) can provide a better way of assessing advanced abilities than assessments designed specifically for a student's age level (Subotnik, Olszeski-Kubilius & Worrell 2011; Borland 2014).
- Psychometric assessments and tests with a normreferenced sample are important to help understand how advanced a student's potential is compared to their age peers (Südkamp, Kaiser & Möeller 2012; Wellisch 2017).
- Using 'local norms' relating student ability or achievement measures to students from similar levels of advantage or with similar characteristics can help to identify more gifted students from under-represented groups (Peters et al. 2019).
- The data from assessments should be reviewed and analysed regularly to track changing patterns of student representation, as well as used to inform teaching and learning (Black & Wiliam 2009; Sternberg 2018).
- It is important not to consider identification of giftedness as a binary issue with 'winners and losers': students with high potential that do not meet a strict criteria cut-off may still require additional extension in their regular learning (Callahan 2009; Peters 2016).

Ideally, as for all assessment processes, identifying a student's learning progress and level of mastery can then be used to inform further learning and curriculum differentiation. Formative assessment can have a strong positive effect on student learning outcomes (Black & Wiliam 1998, 2009; Bennett 2011). Teachers can use formative assessment as the starting point for planning challenging learning that will extend all learners, and will ensure that high potential learners get learning experiences that are challenging for their level, not just the average level of their peers (Smith 2015).



Acceleration and advanced progression

Acceleration allows students to progress to the next grade or stage of school earlier than is usual for a student of that age (Pressey 1949). This creates a closer match between student ability and the curriculum, potentially reducing boredom and increasing engagement for gifted students (Tannenbaum 1983). Acceleration also recognises the capacity of gifted students to potentially master new content and skills faster than their age peers (Geake 2009b). A student can be accelerated by advancing or 'skipping' an entire year across all subjects, a single subject, or by starting school or university at an age earlier than usual (Southern 2003; Assouline et al. 2015). For some exceptionally gifted students, acceleration by more than one year may be necessary and beneficial (Gross 1992; Jung & Gross 2015).

Acceleration is considered one of the most effective educational interventions available to gifted students (Rogers 2007, 2015). Repeated meta-analyses and systematic reviews of the research evidence on acceleration across a vast diversity of educational settings and contexts have shown that all forms of acceleration can offer significant learning benefits for gifted students (Steenbergen-Hu & Moon 2011; Warne 2017). The typical effect size of acceleration is between +0.42and +1.62 standard deviations of learning growth, placing acceleration among the most effective educational practices (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel & Olszewski-Kubilius 2016). This research also confirms the lack of empirical evidence that acceleration results in negative academic or social outcomes for students. These findings have been consistent across students from diverse backgrounds (Lee et al. 2010). Early entry to school and radical acceleration are also supported by the literature (Gross 2006; Rogers 2015).

Acceleration can be more effective when it is used earlier in a student's schooling (Gross 1992, 2006; Gallagher et al. 2010; Rogers 2015). For students in the later years of school, access to post-school education can be vital to ensure continuing high levels of challenge. This can occur through models such as advanced placement or dual enrolment (completing university subjects as part of senior secondary years), or even early university entrance (Howley et al. 2013; Jung, Young & Gross 2015).

Research shows that many teachers and school leaders hold negative views on acceleration, with particular concern over social and emotional issues (Rambo & McCoach 2012; Dare, Smith & Nowicki 2016). These attitudes are much stronger amongst teachers who have not completed specialist training in gifted education (Missett et al. 2014). However, extensive research shows that these concerns are generally unfounded (Neihart 2007). Like all educational interventions, the quality of implementation of acceleration is the key to its success for gifted students.



Curriculum differentiation for gifted students

Curriculum differentiation occurs where teachers adapt the syllabus to meet the specific learning needs of a group of students. This may involve changes in the curriculum objectives, teaching methods, assessment methods, and/or resources and learning activities. Differentiation is typically called for when students with a diverse range of knowledge, skills and abilities are grouped together in the same classroom, but can also happen across different classrooms and programs (Firmender, Reis & Sweeny 2013). For gifted students, curriculum differentiation strategies aim to meet their advanced learning needs by increasing the level of challenge, complexity, depth and learning pace (Kaplan 2009; Warne 2017). Forms of differentiation such as curriculum acceleration, extension and enrichment, and formative assessment-informed learning experiences have strong potential for classroom use. Positive academic outcomes have been shown when learning experiences have been matched to the assessed advanced learning needs of gifted students (Gavin et al. 2007; Fischer, Frey & Hattie 2016).

Formative assessment and student achievement data are both important sources to inform effective differentiation (Sarason 1996). Teachers who use this information are able to strengthen differentiation practice to ensure that learning is made challenging and developmentally appropriate for gifted students, not simply different (Brimijoin, Marguisee & Tomlinson 2003). Assessment should be used to inform differentiation as part of a dynamic process to ensure that learning extends a student's level of understanding and skill through scaffolding and extension (Smith 2015). Use of formative assessment including strategies such as 'pre-testing' can help identify a student's the current state of mastery and learning expertise. This can help teachers use differentiation strategies such as curriculum compacting, where less time is spent on revising already-mastered content and more time is allocated to advanced learning tasks such as extension or enrichment activities. Research by Peters and colleagues (2017) in the US suggests that large numbers of students may start the school year already one year or more ahead of grade level, making them candidates for curriculum compacting and faster movement through learning programs. Using these strategies will help students avoid the boredom caused by excessive repetition or slow progression through a teaching program (Reis, Burns & Renzulli 1992).

Research suggests that curriculum differentiation can be challenging for teachers to implement successfully, especially without sufficient training and support (Brighton et al. 2005). The complexity of differentiation in highly diverse classrooms may require that teachers complete several tasks simultaneously, such as managing multiple groups working at different levels on different learning tasks (van Geel et al. 2019). Some studies of curriculum differentiation for gifted students have found limited effects because of the teacher skill and professional learning required (Ysseldyke & Tardrew 2007). A study by Freedberg and colleagues (2019) showed that many teachers of mixed-ability classrooms felt that they needed to set independent work for high-ability students when implementing differentiation so that they could focus classroom time on students who were experiencing greater difficulty. This may leave gifted students with less explicit teaching time than might be beneficial.

While the evidence base for aspects of differentiated teaching is growing, research provides us with some suggestions on how to best implement curriculum differentiation. Recent studies of differentiated mathematics programs (McCoach et al. 2014) and reading programs (Reis et al. 2011) suggest that chances of success can be optimised when learning activities and resources are pre-differentiated and targeted to specific learning needs, which also helps save time for teachers. It is important to evaluate curriculum differentiation to ensure that the impact on learning outcomes can be observed and that effective strategies are being implemented (Hamilton et al. 2019). Professional learning on strategies to implement curriculum differentiation may help teachers increase their range of skills and strategies (Wiggins 1998; Munro 2012). Further controlled studies are required to quantify the effectiveness of specific differentiation models on learning outcomes in mixed-ability settings, especially compared to the potential time and resource investment by teachers and schools (Adelson, McCoach & Gavin 2012; Bui, Craig & Imberman 2014).

The earlier belief (e.g. Berger 1991) that gifted students do not need as much structure or scaffolding in their learning has been dispelled by recent research. Instead, research in cognitive science fields indicates that gifted learners benefit from explicit teaching techniques such as worked examples, scaffolding, and well-sequenced learning tasks, especially in early stages of learning a new topic or skill (Martin 2016). Even when completing open-ended and complex tasks, a randomised-controlled trial conducted by Eysink, Gersen and Gijlers (2015) showed that even gifted students benefit more from external structure and guidance. Gifted students may then be able to move through earlier learning stages to guided enquiry and problem solving faster than other students (Rosenshine 2009).

Ability grouping for gifted programs

Grouping refers to the strategy of placing students of similar ability or achievement levels together for teaching and learning purposes (VanTassel-Baska 1992; Loveless 2013). Grouping can occur within a class or across classes, and can be a temporary or on-going arrangement to facilitate curriculum differentiation (Gamoran et al. 1995; Gentry & MacDougall 2008). Ability grouping for gifted students traditionally uses a model in which identified students are placed with other gifted students within a designated school, class, or small in-class group, so that they can undertake more challenging and developmentally-appropriate learning tasks than they may otherwise receive in a mixed-ability classroom (Feldhusen & Moon 1992; Brulles et al. 2010).

The use of grouping has attracted significant controversy and debate among educators and researchers for decades (Loveless 1999; Card & Giuliano 2014). This debate is partly philosophical but it may also be the result of inconsistencies and gaps in the evidence base. Betts (2011) has suggested that many studies of ability grouping rely on weak research designs or observational techniques, differing understandings of terms such as streaming or grouping, or use inconsistent definitions of ability in order to select or group students (Boaler, Wiliam & Brown 2010). Some studies and meta-analyses of streaming and grouping practices suffer from methodological problems, which creates a need for more rigourous controlled studies (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel & Olszewski-Kubilius 2016).

An assessment of existing research suggests that ability grouping for gifted students is an effective practice, provided there is appropriate curriculum differentiation and equitable assessment processes for the group placement. Steenbergen-Hu and colleagues (2016) found that specific ability-grouped programs for gifted students have a moderate and statistically significant effect on academic achievement (g = 0.37). Crossgrade subject grouping (g = 0.42) and within-class grouping (0.19 \leq g \leq 0.30) also had moderate significant effects. Similar positive effects were found for other types of ability grouping for gifted students, such as within- and across-school cluster grouping, where concentrations of students with similar ability levels are grouped within a mixed ability class, rather than being grouped exclusively in one setting (Brulles, Peters & Saunders 2012). This positive significant finding for grouping for gifted students is consistent with other major meta-analyses and reviews (Tieso 2005; Rogers 2007). Even Slavin (1990), one of the stronger critics of ability grouping, conceded that ability grouping is justified when there is a 'true acceleration' program (p. 65) – that is, an advanced differentiated curriculum provided for gifted students. A well-implemented ability-grouped program for gifted students can be of great value with minimal impact on other learners in the same cohort (Collins & Gan 2013; Card & Guilliano 2016b).

However, simply sorting or streaming students in classes based on prior achievement may have little learning impact unless significant curriculum modification is employed at the same time (Boaler, Wiliam & Brown 2010; Steenbergen-Hu, Makel & Olszewski-Kubilius 2016). Rigid systems such as tracking, which can limit the access of students to further study or career pathways, may have a negative impact on some learners unless differentiation is used and expectations of all learners remain high (Burns & Mason 2002; Nomi 2010). As stated by Hattie (2009), 'for grouping to be maximally effective materials and teaching must be varied and made appropriately challenging to accommodate the needs of students at their differing levels of ability' (p. 95). Differentiated learning experiences and specialist-trained teachers in gifted grouped settings are shown to be important (Slavin 1987; Kulik & Kulik 1992; Lou et al. 1996; Rogers 1993, 2007).

The research literature offers mixed conclusions regarding the socio-affective outcomes of ability grouping (Neihart 2007). Some research describes positive effects on self-esteem or self-concept for all learners in gifted ability-grouped contexts, particularly where programs are in place to address any concerns with grouping (Ireson, Hallam & Plewis 2001; Gentry & MacDougall 2008). A recent study of US college students found higher levels of wellbeing and fewer students demonstrating psychological concerns among students in academically demanding honours programs when compared to a regular student group (Plominski & Burns 2018).



In contrast, other research suggests that grouping gifted learners together in classes can have effects on the academic self-concept of some gifted students as they are no longer the 'big fish in a little pond' (Marsh et al. 2015). Not all gifted learners may be affected by these peer-comparison effects (Makel et al. 2012; Trautwein et al. 2009). Gross (2001) found that some gifted learners could suffer a dip in their self-concept once placed in academically selective settings, but self-concept and esteem improved to healthy levels once students adapted to their new surroundings. While some gifted students may be suited to and enjoy an abilitygrouped environment, it is possible that others may prefer to be the 'big fish'. A range of gifted programs and flexibility of student movement in groups can help to address this, as well as giving students and parents options. Rogers (1993), in an oft-cited quotation, concludes that: 'it is likely that there are many personal, environmental, family and other extraneous variables that affect self-esteem and socialisation more directly than the practice of grouping itself' (p. 11).

Enrichment and extracurricular programs

Enrichment and extension programs are a common feature of many gifted education programs in Australia. Extension programs typically seek to increase the depth and challenge of learning within the same year context, while enrichment programs seek to broaden the learning experience by applying learning to new and different contexts (Davis & Rimm 1989). These programs offer the opportunity for like-minded students to work together on challenging learning that may not be offered elsewhere in the regular school week (Renzulli 1997; Horak & Galluzo 2017). Extracurricular programs seek to support and augment classroom-based learning and may offer extension and enrichment in specific activities such as debating, student leadership, sport and technology programs.

Enrichment has been shown to be generally effective as an educational practice. Research by Wallace (1989) found that the experience and specialist training of teachers made a significant difference to the efficacy of enrichment programs – teachers with several years' experience and training in teaching gifted students had much greater effects (d = 0.88) than those with no or limited experience (d = -0.06). Some other learning benefits have been identified in controlled trials, where students participating in enrichment programs demonstrated greater creativity, creative thinking, and verbal fluency (Kolloff & Feldhusen 1984; Memmert 2007). Positive career and social outcomes have also been observed in short-and long-term studies (Moon, Feldhusen & Dillon 1994), with positive responses from parents and students (Herzog 2003; Olszewski-Kubilius & Lee 2004).

Extracurricular programs are a common feature of Australian aifted education programs. These programs can vary widely in their features and application, but generally seek to extend a student in an area of interest or talent that may lie outside the more traditional learning experiences of the classroom and curriculum. Research into the efficacy of extracurricular programs is generally limited. One Australian study on maths competitions and gifted students found that, if incorporated into a well-planned maths program, these competitions can extend and motivate gifted students by enhancing students' self-directed learning skills, team-building skills, and student self-satisfaction (Bicknell 2008). Recent research into enrichment competitions demonstrates the potential benefits and positive experiences for gifted students in terms of problem-solving, resilience, motivation, engagement, and social connections (Ozturk & Debelak 2008; Smith, North & Martin 2016).



5. Professional Learning

The quality of professional learning available for teachers is an important factor in supporting the talent development of high-ability learners. As gifted education is a highly technical area with a large research base, successful programs in schools need to be supported by specialised training (Rowley 2012; Jarvis & Henderson 2014). In particular, each of the demanding and challenging teaching practices involved with differentiation (Wiggins 1998; Dixon et al. 2014), assessment (Ysseldyke & Tardrew 2007), grouping (Tieso 2005), identification (Hodge & Kemp 2006; Siegle & Powell 2004) and acceleration (Geake & Gross 2008), has been shown by research to be implemented more effectively by teachers with specialist study in gifted education. These teachers also tend to hold higher expectations and their gifted students may achieve better results when compared to other teachers without similar training (Whitlock & DuCette 1989: Garrett et al. 2015).

Teachers who have completed specialised training or advanced studies have been found to be more effective in meeting the needs of gifted students (Hansen & Feldhusen 1994; Wallace 1989). This includes evidence of greater utilisation of effective teaching strategies (Gross 1997b; Rowley 2008), with substantial effects on both teaching practice and student results (Needels & Gage 1991; VanTassel-Baska & Stambaugh 2005). Studies of teachers whose students achieved outstanding school results have shown that these teachers had specific skills and practices that helped to promote an optimal environment for high-level learning and academic performance (Ayers, Dinham & Sawyer 2004; Laine & Tirri 2016). Research also shows that specialist-trained teachers can be more effective in identifying gifted students and creating challenging learning experiences than those who have not received training (Vialle & Rogers 2012; Fraser-Seeto 2013). Research into gifted student perspectives on their teachers also shows that students can recognise and appreciate teachers who are more engaging and more effective at teaching them on account of their training (Tischler & Vialle 2009).

Despite these factors, study in gifted or high-ability education is not a mandated part of pre-service education courses, and very few Australian university schools of education require it as a mandatory degree component (Fraser-Seeto 2013; Henderson & Jarvis 2016). Specialist training or additional qualifications are not usually not required for appointment to specialist or selective school programs, despite research strongly supporting its implementation (Hansen & Feldhusen 1994; Gross 2004). For teacher professional learning to be implemented effectively, strong school leadership organisational structures, and whole school support program support is needed. An Australian study by Jolly & Peters (2018) suggests that school leadership and organisational structures may be critical factors to ensure that teachers implement changed practices as a result of their professional learning.

6. Conclusion

For Australia to lead in the knowledge economy of the 21st century, we need a culture of excellence where high achievement is expected and challenge is celebrated. There is strong evidence to suggest that greater use of effective evidence-based practices is needed to ensure that gifted students have the right opportunities to reach their educational potential. Studies in Australia and comparable international contexts indicate that some existing gifted education programs and strategies have not had the desired impact on achievement outcomes, and have missed many gifted students from disadvantaged backgrounds. A review of recent research strongly suggests purposeful talent development programs, incorporating evidence-based effective practices and explicit teaching, are needed to optimise the achievement and talent development of gifted learners (Stoeger et al. 2017). Strategies such as academic acceleration, purposeful gifted student programs, enrichment and extension are needed to extend and challenge students with high academic potential (Subotnik, Olszeski-Kubilius & Worrell 2011; Steenbergen-Hu, Maken & Olszewski-Kubilius 2016). We especially need to work towards closing excellence gaps in achievement for gifted students from disadvantaged groups, who may rely more heavily on schools to provide programs for talent development (Plucker & Peters 2016). Use of formative assessment and student achievement data will help inform the teaching and learning cycle so that gifted students are appropriately challenged.

To achieve this, teachers and school leaders need to be equipped with the most recent research evidence on what works best for gifted learners, coupled with examples of effective practice from high-achieving and high-growth schools (VanTassel-Baska et al. 2009). Teachers and schools must plan for, and evaluate the efficacy of, their school programs with student achievement in mind, and work to address issues of pervasive underachievement and excellence gaps (Renzulli & Reis 1997; Plucker, Hardesty & Burroughs 2013). Ensuring that teachers are equipped with the skills to extend and challenge gifted learners, at both pre-service and in-service points of professional development, will help to maximise outcomes. Assessing the learning needs of a broad range of learners will help.

Although no small challenge, taking these steps to re-think gifted education will help to create a situation where all learners – regardless of their background – have the greatest opportunity to achieve excellence.

7. References

Acar, S, Sen, S, & Cayirdag, N 2016, 'Consistency of the performance and non-performance methods in gifted identification: A multilevel meta-analytic review', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 60, no. 2, pp. 81-101.

Adelson, J, McCoach, D & Gavin, M 2012, 'Examining the effects of gifted programming in mathematics and reading using the ECLS-K', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 56, no. 1, pp. 25-39.

Alexander, J, O'Boyle, M, Benbow, C 1996, 'Developmentally advanced EEG alpha power in gifted male and female adolescents', *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, vol. 23, nos. 1-2, pp. 25-31.

Amini, M 2005, 'Identifying stressors and reactions to stressors in gifted and non-gifted students', *International Education Journal*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 136-140.

Andreasen, N, Flaum, M, Swayze, V, O'Leary, D, Alliger, R, Cohen, G, Ehrhardt, J & Yuh, W 1993, 'Intelligence and brain structure in normal individuals', *American Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 150, pp. 130-134.

Assouline, S & Colangelo, N 2006, 'Social-emotional development of gifted adolescents', in F Dixon & S Moon (eds), *The Handbook of Secondary Gifted Education*, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Assouline, S, Colangelo, N, VanTassel-Baska, J & Lupkowski-Shoplik, A 2015, *A nation empowered: Evidence trumps the excuses holding back America's brightest students*, vol. 2, Connie Belin and Jacqueline N. Blank International Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development, Iowa City, IA.

Attewell, P & Thurston, D 2008, 'Raising the bar: curricular intensity and academic performance', *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis,* vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 51-71.

Ayres, P, Sawyer W & Dinham, S 2004, 'Effective teaching in the context of a Grade 12 high-stakes external examination in New South Wales, Australia', *British Educational Research Journal*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 141-165.

Azano, A, Callahan, C, Missett, T, & Brunner, M 2014, 'Understanding the experiences of gifted education teachers and fidelity of implementation in rural schools', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 25, pp. 88–100.

Baddeley, A 2010, 'Working Memory', *Current Biology*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 136-140.

Baker, E 2003, 'Multiple measures: Toward tiered systems', *Educational Measurement: Issues and Practice*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 13-17.

Baum, S, Schader, R & Hebert, T 2014, 'Through a different lens: reflecting on a strengths-based, talent-focused approach for twice-exceptional learners', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 311-327.

Ben-Eliyahu, A, Linnenbrink-Garcia, L & Putallaz, M 2017, 'The intertwined nature of adolescents' social and academic lives: Social and academic goal orientations', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 66-93.

Bennett, R 2011, 'Formative assessment: A critical review', *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 5-25.

Benny, N, & Blonder, R 2016, 'Factors that promote/inhibit teaching gifted students in a regular class: Results from a professional development program for chemistry teachers', *Education Research International*, vol. 2016, article ID 2742905, pp. 1-12.

Berger, S 1991, *Differentiating Curriculum for Gifted Students* (ERIC Digest #E510), ERIC Clearinghouse on Handicapped and Gifted Children, Reston, VA.

Betts, J, 2011 'The Economics of tracking in education', in E Hanushek, S Machin & L Woessmann (eds), *Handbook of the Economics of Education*, vol. 3, North Holland Press, Amsterdam, pp. 341-381.

Bevan-Brown, J 2011, 'Indigenous conceptions of giftedness', in W Vialle, *Giftedness from an indigenous perspective*, Australian Association for the Education of the Gifted and Talented, Wollongong, Australia.

Bianco, M, Harris, B, Garrison-Wade, D & Leech, N 2011, 'Gifted girls: Gender bias in gifted referrals', *Roeper Review*, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 170-181.

Bicknell, B 2008, 'Gifted students and the role of mathematics competitions', *Australian Primary Mathematics Classroom*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 16-20.

Black, P & Wiliam, D 1998, 'Assessment and classroom learning', *Assessment in Education: principles, policy & practice*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 7-74.

Black, P & Wiliam, D 2009, 'Developing the theory of formative assessment', *Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 5-31.

Blackburn, A, Cornish, L & Smith, S 2016, 'Gifted English language learners: Global understandings and Australian perspectives', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 338-360.

Bloom, B 1985, *Developing talent in young people*, Ballantine, New York, NY.

Boaler, J, Wiliam, D & Brown, M 2010, 'Students' experiences of ability grouping: disaffection, polarisation and the construction of failure', *British Educational Research Journal*, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 631-648.

Borland, J 1989, *Planning and implementing programs for the gifted*, Teachers College Press, New York, NY.

Borland, J 2014, 'Identification', in J Plucker & C Callahan, *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says*, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Brighton, C, Hertberg, H, Moon, T, Tomlinson, C & Callahan, C 2005, *The feasibility of high-end learning in a diverse middle school*, National Research Centre on the Gifted and Talented, University of Connecticut.

Brighton, C Hertberg, H, Moon, T, Tomlinson, C & Callahan, C 2005, *The feasibility of high-end learning in a diverse middle school*, National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented paper RM05210.

Brimijoin, K, Marquisee, E & Tomlinson, C 2003, 'Using data to differentiate instruction', *Educational Leadership*, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 70-72.

Brown, K, Bentkovitz, J, Muttillo, A & Urban, T 2011, 'Leading schools of excellence and equity: Documenting effective strategies in closing achievement gaps', *Teachers College Record*, vol. 113, no. 1, pp. 57-96.

Brulles D, Peters S & Saunders R 2012, 'School-wide mathematics achievement within the gifted cluster grouping model', *Journal of Advanced Academics,* vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 200–216.

Brulles, D, Saunders, R & Cohn, S 2010, 'Improving performance for gifted students in a cluster grouping model', Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Bui, S, Craig, S & Imberman, S 2014, 'Is gifted education a bright idea? Assessing the impact of gifted and talented programs on students', *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 30-62.

Burns, R & Mason, D 2002, 'Class composition and student achievement in elementary schools', *American Educational Research Journal*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 207-233.

Burroughs, N & Plucker, J 2014, 'Excellence gaps', in J Plucker & C Callahan (eds), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education*, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Cain, M, Kaboski, J & Gilger, J 2019, 'Profiles and academic trajectories of cognitively gifted children with autism spectrum disorder', *Autism: Journal of the National Autistic Society*, vol. 23, no. 1.

Callahan C 2009, 'Myth 3: A family of identification myths: Your sample must be the same as the population. There is a "silver bullet" in identification. There must be "winners" and "losers" in identification and programming', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 239-241.

Callahan, C & Hertberg-Davis, H 2012, *Fundamentals of gifted education: Considering multiple perspectives*, Routledge, Abingdon, UK.

Callahan, C & McIntire, J 1994, *Identifying outstanding talent in American Indian and Alaska native students*, Office of Educational Research and Improvement, U.S. Department of Education, Washington, DC.

Campbell, R, Muijs, R, Neelands, J, Robinson, W, Eyre, D & Hewston, R 2007, 'The social origins of students identified as gifted and talented in England: a geo-demographic analysis', *Oxford Review of Education*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 103-120.

Cao, T, Jung, J & Lee, J 2017, 'Assessment in gifted education: A review of the literature from 2005 to 2016, *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 163-203.

Card, D & Giuliano, L 2014, *Does gifted education work? For which students?* (No. w20453), National Bureau of Economic Research.

Card, G & Giuliano, L 2016a, `Universal screening increases the presentation of low-income and minority students in gifted education', *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 113, no. 48, pp. 13678-13683.

Card, G & Giuliano, L 2016b, 'Can tracking raise the test scores of high-ability minority students?', *American Economic Review*, vol. 106, no. 10, pp. 2783-2816.

Carman, C, Walther, C, & Bartsch, R 2018, `Using the Cognitive Abilities Test (CogAT) 7 Nonverbal Battery to identify the gifted/ talented: An investigation of demographic effects and norming plans', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 193-209.

Carroll, J 2003, 'The higher-stratum structure of cognitive abilities: Current evidence supports *g* and about ten broad factors', in H Nyborg (ed.), *The scientific study of general intelligence: Tribute to Arthur R. Jensen* (pp. 5–22), Pergamon, San Diego, CA. Carroll, W 1994, 'Using worked examples as an instructional support in the algebra classroom', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 86, no. 3, pp. 360-367.

Carson, S, Peterson, J & Higgins, D 2003, 'Decreased latent inhibition is associated with increased creative achievement in high-functioning individuals', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 85, pp. 499–506.

Chaffey, G 2011, 'Is gifted education a necessary ingredient in creating a level playing field for indigenous children in education?', in W Vialle, *Giftedness from an indigenous perspective*, AAEGT, Wollongong, Australia.

Chaffey, G, & Bailey, S 2008, 'The use of dynamic testing to reveal high academic potential and underachievement in a culturally different population', *Gifted Education International*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 124–138.

Chaffey, G, Bailey, S & Vine, K 2015, 'Identifying high academic potential in Australian Aboriginal children using dynamic testing', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 24-37.

Chamberlin, S, Buchanan, M & Vercimak, D 2007, 'Serving twiceexceptional preschoolers: Blending gifted education and early childhood special education practices in assessment and program planning', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 30, no. 3, 372-393.

Chessman, A 2006, Identification of Students from Culturally Diverse Backgrounds: Coolabah Dynamic Assessment Model (CDAM), New South Wales Department of Education and Training, Curriculum K-12 Directorate, Ryde, NSW.

Chichekian, T, & Shore, B 2017, 'Hold firm: Gifted learners value standing one's ground in disagreements with a friend', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 152-167.

Clark, B 1997, *Growing up gifted*, 5th edn, Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ.

Coates, D, Thompson, W & Shimmin, A 2008, 'Using learning journeys to develop a challenging curriculum for gifted children in a nursery (kindergarten) setting', *Gifted and Talented International*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 97-104.

Collins, C & Gan, L 2013, 'Does sorting students improve scores? An analysis of class composition', NBEW Working Paper 18848, pp. 1-41.

Corson, A, Loveless, J, Mochrie, K & Whited, M 2018, 'Perfectionism in relation to stress and cardiovascular disease among gifted individuals and the need for affective interventions', *Roeper Review*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 46-55.

Cox, J, Daniel, N, & Boston B 1985, *Educating able learners*, University of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

Cross, J, Frazier, A, Kim, M & Cross, T 2018, 'A comparison of perceptions of barriers to academic success among high-ability students from high- and low-income groups: Exposing poverty of a different kind', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62 no. 1, pp. 111-129.

Cross, T & Cross, J 2017, 'Maximizing potential: A school-based conception of psychosocial development', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 43-58.

Dai, D, Moon, S, & Feldhusen, J 2011, 'Achievement motivation and gifted students: A social cognitive perspective', *Educational Psychologist*, vol. 33, no. 2-3, pp. 45-63. Dare, L, Smith, S, Nowicki, E 2016, 'Parents' experiences with their children's grade-based acceleration: Struggles, successes, and subsequent needs', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 6-21.

Davis, G & Rimm, S 1989, *Education of the gifted and talented*, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ.

De Jong, T 2010, 'Cognitive load theory, educational research, and instructional design: Some food for thought', *Instructional Science*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 105-134.

Desco, M, Navas-Sanchez, F, Sanchez-Gonzalez, J, Reig, S, Robles, O, Franco, C, Guzman-de-Villoria, J, Garcia-Barreno, P, Arango, C, 2011, 'Mathematically gifted adolescents use more extensive and more bilateral areas of the fronto-parietal network than controls during executive functioning and fluid reasoning tasks', *NeuroImage*, vol. 57, pp. 281-292.

Dixon, F, Yssel, N, McConnel, J & Hardin, T 2014, 'Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 111-127.

Dixson, D, Robertson, C, & Worrell, F 2017, 'Psychosocial keys to African American achievement? Examining the relationship between achievement and psychosocial variables in high achieving African Americans', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 120-140.

Duckworth, A, Peterson, C, Matthews, M & Kelly, D 2007, 'Grit: perseverance and passion for long-term goals', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 92, no. 6, pp. 1087-1101.

Dweck, C 2012, 'Mindsets and malleable minds: Implications for giftedness and talent', in R Subotnik, A Robinson, C Callahan, & J Gubbins (eds), *Malleable minds: Translating insights from psychology and neuroscience to gifted education*, National Centre for Research on Giftedness and Talent, Storrs, CT, pp. 7-18.

Ecker-Lyster, M, Niileksela, C 2017, 'Enhancing gifted education for under-represented students: promising recruitment and programming strategies', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp 79-95.

Education Act 1990 (NSW).

Elhoweris, H, Mutua, K, Alsheikh, N & Holloway, P 2005, 'Effect of children's ethnicity on teachers' referral and recommendation decisions in gifted and talented programs', *Remedial and Special Education*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 25-31.

Engle, R, Kane, M, & Tuholski, S 1999, 'Individual differences in working memory capacity and what they tell us about controlled attention, general fluid intelligence, and functions of the prefrontal cortex' in A Miyake & P Shah (ed.), *Models of working memory: Mechanisms of active maintenance and executive control* (pp. 102-134), Cambridge U. Press, Cambridge, UK.

Ericsson, K, Krampe, R & Tesch-Romer, C 1993, 'The role of deliberate practice in the acquisition of expert performance', *Psychological Review*, vol. 100. no.3, pp. 363-406.

Eysink, T, Gersen, L & Gijlers, H 2015, 'Inquiry learning for gifted children', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 63-74.

Feldhusen, J, Asher, J & Hoover, S 1984, Problems in the identification of giftedness, talent, or ability', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 299-301.

Feldhusen, J & Moon, S 1992, 'Grouping gifted students: Issues and concerns', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 63-66.

Figg, S, Rogers, K, McCormick, J & Low, R 2012, 'Differentiating low performance of the gifted learner: Achieving, underachieving, and selective consuming students', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 53-71.

Finn, C & Wright, B 2015, *Failing our brightest kids: The global challenge of education high-ability students,* Harvard Education Press, Boston, MA.

Firmender, J, Reis, S & Sweeny, S 2013, 'Reading comprehension and fluency levels ranges across diverse classrooms: The need for differentiated reading instruction and content', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 3-14.

Fischer, D, Frey, N & Hattie, J 2016, *Visible learning for literacy, grades K-12*, Corwin, Thousand Oaks, CA.

Foley-Nicpon, M, Allmon, A, Sieck, R & Stinson, R 2011, 'Empirical investigation of twice-exceptionality: Where have we been and where are we going?', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 55, pp. 3-17.

Foley-Nicpon, M, Assouline, S & Fosenburg, S 2015, 'The relationship between self-concept, ability, and academic programming among twice-exceptional youth', *Journal of Advanced Academics,* vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 256-273.

Foley-Nicpon, M, Assouline, S, Kivlighan, D, Fosenburg, S, Cederberg, C & Nanji, M 2017, 'The effects of a social and talent development intervention for high ability youth with social skill difficulties', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 43-58.

Ford, D & Antoinette, T 1997, 'Underachievement among gifted minority students: problems and promises', *ERIC Digest E544*, ERIC Clearinghouse, Reston, VA.

Ford, D 1998, 'The under-representation of minority students in gifted education: Problems and promises in recruitment and retention', *The Journal of Special Education*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 4-14.

Ford, D, Coleman, M & Davis, J 2014, 'Racially, ethnically, and linguistically different gifted and talented students', *Gifted Child Today*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 133-134.

Ford, D, Moore, J & Trotman Scott, M 2011, 'Key theories and frameworks for improving the recruitment and retention of African-American students in gifted education', *The Journal of Negro Education*, vol. 80, no. 3, 239-253.

Foust, R, Hertberg-Davis, H & Callahan, C 2008, 'Having it all at sleep's expense: the forced choice of participants in Advanced Placement Courses and International Baccalaureate programs', *Roeper Review*, vol. 30, pp. 121-128.

Fraser-Seeto, K 2013, 'Pre-service teacher training in gifted and talented education: An Australian perspective', *Journal of Student Engagement: Engagement Matters*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 29-38.

Freedberg, S, Bondie, R, Zusho, A, & Allison, C 2019, 'Challenging students with high abilities in inclusive math and science classrooms', High Ability Studies, vol. 30, no. 1.

Gagné, F 1998, 'A proposal for subcategories within the gifted or talented populations', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 42, pp. 87-95.

Gagné, F 2009, 'Building gifts into talents: Detailed overview of the DMGT 2.0', in B MacFarlane & T Stambaugh (eds), *Leading change in gifted education: The festschrift of Dr Joyce VanTassel-Baska*, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Gagné, F 2009, 'The differentiated model of giftedness and talent (DMGT)', in J Renzulli, E Gubbins, K McMillen, R Eckert & C Little (eds), Systems and models for developing programs for the gifted and talented, 2nd edn, Creative Learning Press, Mansfield Center, CT.

Gagné, F 2011, 'Academic talent development and the equity issue in gifted education', *Talent Development and Excellence*, vol. 3, pp. 3-22.

Gagné, F 2015, 'Academic talent development programs: A best practices model', *Asia Pacific Education Review*, vol. 16, no. 2, pp. 281-295.

Gagné, F & Gagnier, N 2004, 'The socio-affective and academic impact of early entrance to school', *Roeper Review* vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 128-138.

Gagnon, D, & Mattingly, M 2016, 'Advanced placement and rural schools: Access, success, and exploring alternatives', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 266-284.

Gallagher, J 2004, 'No Child Left Behind and gifted education', *Roeper Review*, vol. 26, pp. 121-123.

Gallagher, J, 2002, *Society's role in educating gifted students: The role of public policy,* The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, Storrs, CT.

Gallagher, J, Harradine, C & Coleman, M 2010, 'Challenge or boredom? Gifted students' views on their schooling', *Roeper Review*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 132-136.

Gallagher, S, Smith, S & Merrotsy, P 2010, 'Early entry: When should a gifted child start school?', *The Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 19, no. 1, p. 16.

Gallucci, N, Middleton, G & Kline, A 1999, 'Intellectually superior children and behavior problems and competence', *Roeper Review*, 22, no. 1, pp. 18-21.

Gamoran, A, Nystrand, M, Berends, M & LePore, P 1995, 'An organisational analysis of the effects of ability grouping', *American Educational Research Journal*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 687-715.

Garrett, L, Rubie-Davies, C, Alansari, M, Peterson, E & Flint, A 2015, 'Missing out'? The potential consequences of inaccurate teacher expectations on young gifted readers' achievement outcomes, *The New Zealand Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 19, no. 1.

Garvis, S 2006, 'Optimising the learning of gifted Aboriginal students', *International Journal of Pedagogies and Learning*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 43-51.

Gavin, M, Casa, T, Adelson, J, Carroll, S, Sheffield, L & Spinelli, A 2007, 'Project M3: Mentoring mathematical minds: Challenging curriculum for talented elementary students', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 18, pp. 566–585.

Geake, J & Dodson, C 2005, 'A neuro-psychological model of the creative intelligence of gifted children', *Gifted and Talented International*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 6-14.

Geake, J & Gross, M 2008, 'Teachers' negative affect towards academically gifted students: An evolutionary psychological study', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 217-231.

Geake, J & Hansen, P 2005, 'Neural correlates of intelligence as revealed by fMRI of fluid analogies', *NeuroImage*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 555–564.

Geake, J 2005, 'Educational neuroscience and neuroscientific education: In search of a mutual middle way,' *Research Intelligence*, vol. 92, pp. 10-13.

Geake, J 2008, 'High abilities at fluid analogizing: A cognitive neuroscience construct of giftedness', *Roeper Review*, vol. 30, pp. 187–195.

Geake, J 2009a, *The brain at school: Educational neuroscience in the classroom*, McGraw-Hill Education, London, UK.

Geake, J 2009b, 'Neuropsychological Characteristics of Academic and Creative Giftedness', in L Shavinina (ed.), *International Handbook on Giftedness*, Springer, Netherlands.

Gear, G 1978, 'Effects of training on teachers' accuracy in the identification of gifted children', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 90-97.

Gentry, M & MacDougall, J 2008, 'Total school cluster grouping: Model, research, and practice', in J Renzulli & E Gubbins (eds), *Systems and models for developing programs for the gifted and talented*, 2nd edn, Creative Learning Press, Mansfield Center, CT.

Gentry, M 2009, 'Myth 11: A comprehensive continuum of gifted education and talent development services', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 262-265.

Gentry, M, & MacDougall, J 2008, 'Total school cluster grouping: Model, research, and practice', in M Gentry, J MacDougal & J Renzuilli (eds), *Systems and models for developing programs for the gifted and talented*, pp. 211-234.

Gentry, M, Steenbergen-Hu, S & Choi, B 2011, 'Student-identified exemplary teachers: Insights from talented teachers', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 55, no. 2, pp. 111-125.

Goings, R & Ford, D 2018, 'Investigating the intersection of poverty and race in gifted education journals: a 15-year analysis', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 25-36.

Goldstein, D, Stocking, V & Godfrey, J 1999, 'What we've learned from talent search research', in N Colangelo & S Assouline (eds), *Talent development III: Proceedings from the 1995 Henry B. and Jocelyn Wallace National Research Symposium on Talent Development*, Gifted Psychology Press, Scottsdale, AZ.

Gonzalez, V 2002, 'Advanced cognitive development and bilingualism: Methodological flaws and suggestions for measuring first- and second-language proficiency, language dominance, and intelligence in minority children', in J Castellano & E Diaz (eds), *Reaching new horizons: Gifted and talented education for culturally and linguistically diverse students* Allyn & Bacon, Boston, MA. (pp. 47–75).

Goss, P & Sonneman, J 2016, 'Widening gaps: What NAPLAN tells us about student progress', Grattan Institute Report No. 2016-3, Grattan Institute.

Grant, B & Piechowski, M 1999, 'Theories and the good: Toward child-centered gifted education', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 4-12.

Greene, J, Erickson, H, Watson, A, & Beck, M 2018, 'The play's the thing: Experimentally examining the social and cognitive effects of school field trips to live theater performances', *Educational Researcher*, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 246-254.

Grissom, J & Redding, C 2016, 'Discretion and disproportionality: Explaining the underrepresentation of high-achieving students of color in gifted programs', *AERA Open*, vol. 2, pp. 1-25. Gross, M 1989, 'The pursuit of excellence or the search for intimacy? The forced-choice dilemma of gifted youth', *Roeper Review*, vol. 11, pp. 189-194.

Gross, M 1992, 'The use of radical acceleration in cases of extreme intellectual precocity', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 90–98.

Gross, M 1997a, 'How ability grouping turns big fish into little fish–or does it? Of optical illusions and optimal environments', Australasian Journal of Gifted Education, vol. 6, no. 2, pp.18-30.

Gross, M 1997b, 'Changing teacher attitudes towards gifted children: An early and essential step', in J Chan, R Li & J Spinks (eds), Maximizing potential: Lengthening and strengthening our stride (pp. 3-22), *The University of Hong Kong Social Sciences Research Centre*, Hong Kong.

Gross, M 1999, 'Small poppies: Highly gifted children in the early years', *Roeper Review*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 207-214.

Gross, M 2001, 'Ability grouping, self-esteem, and the gifted: a study of optical illusions and optimal environments', in N Colangelo & S Assouline (eds), *Proceedings from the 1998 Henry B and Jocelyn Wallace National Research Symposium on talent development*, pp. 59-88, Great Potential Press, Scottsdale AZ.

Gross, M 2004, Exceptionally Gifted Children, 2nd edn, RoutledgeFalmer, London.

Gross, M 2006, 'Exceptionally gifted children: long term outcomes of academic acceleration and non-acceleration', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 404-429.

Gross, M, 2009, 'Highly gifted young people: Development from childhood to adulthood', in Shavinina L (ed.), *Handbook of Giftedness*, Springer, Netherlands.

Gulbin, J, Weissensteiner, J, Oldenziel, K & Gagné, F 2013, 'Patterns of performance development in elite athletes', *European Journal of Sport Science*, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 605-614.

Haier, R & Benbow, C 1995, 'Sex differences and lateralization in temporal lobe glucose metabolism during mathematical reasoning', *Developmental Neuropsychology*, vol. 11, pp. 405–414.

Haier, R, Siegel, B, Nuechterlein, K, Hazlett, E, Wu, J, Paek, J, Browning, H, Buchsbaum, M 1988, 'Cortical glucose metabolic rate correlates of abstract reasoning and attention studied with positron emission tomography', *Intelligence*, vol. 12, pp. 199–217.

Hamilton, R, McCoach, D, Siegle, D, Gubbins, E, Callahan, C & Long, D 2019, 'What really happens in gifted education: A portrait of three states', paper presented at 2019 AERA Conference, 05 April 2019.

Hamilton, R, McCoach, D, Tutwiler, M, Siegle, D, Gubbins, E, Callahan, C, Brodersen, A & Mun, R 2018, 'Disentangling the roles of institutional and individual poverty in the identification of gifted students', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp 6-24.

Hansen, J & Feldhusen, J 1994, 'Comparison of trained and untrained teachers of gifted students', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 115-121. Hardesty, J, McWilliams, J & Plucker, J 2014, 'Excellence gaps: What they are, why they are bad, and how smart contexts can address them ... or make them worse', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 25, pp. 71-80.

Hardway, N & Marek-Schroer, M 1992, 'Multidimensional assessment of the gifted minority student', *Roeper Review*, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 73-77.

Harrison, C 2004, 'Giftedness in early childhood: the search for complexity and connection', *Roeper Review*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 78-84.

Hattie, J 2009, Visible learning: A synthesis of over 800 metaanalyses relating to achievement, Routledge: London.

Herbert, T 2018, 'An examination of high-achieving first-generation college students from low-income backgrounds', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 96-110.

Hernandez-Torrano, D 2018, 'Urban–rural excellence gaps: Features, factors, and implications', *Roeper Review*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 36-45.

Hodges, J, Tay, K, Maeda, Y, & Gentry, M 2018, 'A meta-analysis of gifted and talented identification practices', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 2, 147-174.

Hoekman, K 2009, 'Optimal development', in B Kerr (ed.), *Encyclopedia of Giftedness, Creativity, and Talent*, SAGE, Thousand Oaks, CA.

Henderson, L & Jarvis, J 2016, 'The gifted dimension of the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers: Implications for professional learning', *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 60-83.

Henfield, M, Woo, H & Bang, N 2017, 'Gifted ethnic minority students and academic achievement: a meta-analysis', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 3-19.

Hertzog, N 2014, 'Early childhood education', in J Plucker & C Callahan (eds), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says*, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX, pp. 179-194.

Herzog, N, 2003, 'Impact of gifted programs from the students' perspectives', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 47, no. 2, pp. 131-143.

Ho, C 2017, 'The new meritocracy or over-schooled robots? Public attitudes on Asian–Australian education cultures', *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, vol. 43, no. 14, pp. 23456-2362.

Hodge, K & Kemp, C 2006, 'Recognition of giftedness in the early years of school: Perspectives of teachers, parents and children', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 164-204.

Hoh, P 2014, 'Cognitive characteristics of the gifted', in J Plucker & C Callahan, *Critical issues and practices in gifted education:* What the research says, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Hollingworth, L 1931, 'The child of very superior intelligence as a special problem in social adjustment', *Mental Hygiene*, vol 15, no. 1, pp 1-16.

Hoppe C, Fliessbach, K, Stausberg, S, Stojanovic, J, Trautner, P, Elger, C & Weber, B 2011, 'A key role for experimental task performance: Effects of math talent, gender and performance on the neural correlates of mental rotation', *Brain and Cognition*, vol. 78, pp. 14-27.

Horak, A, & Galluzzo, G 2017,' Gifted middle school students' achievement and perceptions of science classroom quality during problem-based learning', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 28-50.

Howley, A, Howley, M, Howley, C & Duncan, T 2013, 'Early college and dual enrollment challenges: Inroads and impediments to access', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 77-107.

Howley, A, Rhodes, M & Beall, O 2009, 'Challenges facing rural schools: implications for gifted students', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 515-536.

Howley, C, Harmon, H & Leopold, G 1997, *Rural scholars or bright rednecks? Aspirations for a sense of place among rural youth in Appalachia*, Appalachia Educational Lab, Charleston, WV.

Hoxby, C & Avery, C 2013 'The missing "one-offs": The hidden supply of high-achieving, low-income students', *Brookings Papers on Economic Activity*, vol. 2013, no. 1, pp. 1-65.

Ireson, J, Hallam, S & Plewis, I 2001, 'Ability grouping in secondary schools: effects on pupil's self-concepts', *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 315-326.

Jung, J & Gross, M 2015, 'Radical acceleration', in S Assouline, N Colangelo & J VanTassel-Baska (eds), *A nation empowered: Evidence trumps the excuses holding back America's brightest students* (vol. 2), Connie Belin and Jacqueline N. Blank International Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development, Iowa City, IA, pp. 199-208.

Jung, J, & Evans, P 2016, 'The career decisions of child musical prodigies', in G McPherson (ed.), *Musical Prodigies: Interpretations from psychology, music education, musicology and ethnomusicology*, Oxford University Press, Oxford, England, pp. 409-423.

Jung, J & Worrell, F 2017, 'School psychological practice with gifted students', in M Theilking & M Terjesen (eds), *Handbook of Australian School Psychology*, pp. 575-593, Springer: Geneva.

Jung, J, Young, M & Gross, M 2015, 'Early College Entrance in Australia', *Roeper Review*, vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 19-28.

Kalbfleisch, M 2008, 'Getting to the heart of the brain: Using cognitive neuroscience to explore the nature of human ability and performance', *Roeper Review*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 162-170.

Kanevsky, L, & Geake, J 2004, 'Inside the zone of proximal development: Validating a multifactor model of learning potential with gifted students and their peers', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 182-217.

Kaplan, S 2009, 'The grid: A model to construct differentiated curriculum for the gifted', in J Renzulli, E Gubbins, K McMillen, R Eckert & C Little (eds.), *Systems & models for developing programs for the gifted & talented* (2nd edn, pp. 235-251), Creative Learning Press, Mansfield Center, CT.

Karama, S, Colom, R, Johnson, W, Deary, I, Haier, R, Waber, D, Lepage, C, Ganjavi, H, Jung, R & Evans, A 2011, 'Cortical thickness correlates of specific cognitive performance accounted for by the general factor of intelligence in healthy children aged 6 to 18', *Neuroimage*, vol. 55, pp. 1443-1453.

Kelly, S & Carbonaro, W 2012, 'Curriculum tracking and teacher expectations: Evidence from discrepant course taking models', *Social Psychology of Education*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 271-294.

Kettler R, Puryear, J & Mullet D 2016, 'Defining rural in gifted education research: Methodological challenges and paths forward', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 245-265.

Kettler T, & Hurst, L 2017, 'Advanced academic participation: A longitudinal analysis of ethnicity gaps in suburban schools', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 3-19.

Kettler, T, Oveross, M & Salman, R 2017, 'Preschool gifted education: perceived challenges associated with program development', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 117-132.

Kirschner, P, Sweller, J & Clark, R 2006, 'Why minimal guidance during instruction does not work: An analysis of the failure of constructivist, discovery, problem-based, experiential and inquirybased teaching', *Educational Psychologist*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 75-86.

Kitano, M 1986, 'Evaluating program options for young gifted children', *Journal of Children in Contemporary Society*, vol. 18, nos. 3-4, pp. 89-101.

Kolloff, P & Feldhusen, J 1984, 'The effects of enrichment on selfconcept and creative thinking', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 53-57.

Koshy, V & Robinson, N 2006, 'Too long neglected: Gifted young children', *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 113-126.

Kulik, J & Kulik, C 1992, 'Meta analytic findings on grouping programs', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 73-77.

Kyriakides, L, Christoforou, C & Charalambous, C 2013, 'What matters for student learning outcomes: A meta-analysis of studies exploring factors of effective teaching', *Teaching and Teacher Education*, vol. 36, pp. 143-152.

Laine, S, & Tirri, K 2016, 'How Finnish elementary school teachers meet the needs of their gifted students', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 149-164.

Lakin, J 2018, 'Making the cut in gifted selection: Score combination rules and their impact on program diversity', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 210-219.

Lawrence, B 2009, 'Rural gifted education: a comprehensive literature review', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 461–494.

Lee S-Y, Olszewski-Kubilius P, Peternel G 2010, 'The efficacy of academic acceleration for gifted minority students', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 54, no. 3, pp. 189-208.

Leikin, R, Leikin, M, Paz-Baruch, N, Waisman, N, & Lev, M 2017, 'On the four types of characteristics of super mathematically gifted students', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 107-125.

Leikin, R, Leikin, M & Waisman, I 2017, 'What is special about the brain activity of mathematically gifted adolescents?', in R Leikin & B Sriraman (eds), *Creativity and giftedness: Interdisciplinary from mathematics and beyond*, Springer, Switzerland.

Leslie, K, Low, R, Jin, P & Sweller, J 2012, 'Redundancy and expertise reversal effects when using educational technology to learn primary school science', *Educational Technology Research and Development*, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 1-13.

Lidz, C & Macrineb, S 2001, 'An alternative approach to the identification of gifted culturally and linguistically diverse learners: The contribution of dynamic assessment', *School of Psychology International*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 74-96.

Little, C & Kearney, K 2010, 'Students' self-concept and perceptions of mentoring relationships in a summer mentorship program for talented adolescents', *Roeper Review*, vol. 32, no. 3.

Little, C, Adelson, J, Kearney, K, Cash, K, and O'Brien, R 2018, 'Early opportunities to strengthen academic readiness: Effects of summer learning on mathematics achievement', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp 63-95.

Lohman, D, Korb, K & Lakin, J 2008, 'Identifying academically gifted English language learners using non-verbal tests: A comparison of the Raven, NNAT, and CogAT', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 52, no. 4, pp. 275–296.

Lou, Y, Abrami, P, Spence, J, Poulsen, C, Chambers, S & d'Apollonia, S 1996, 'Within-class grouping: A meta-analysis', *Review of Educational Research*, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 423-458.

Loveless T, 1999, *The tracking wars: State reform meets school policy*, Brookings Institution Press, Washington, DC.

Loveless, T 2013, *How well are American students learning? The 2013 Brown Center report on American education,* Brookings Institution, Washington, DC.

Loveless, T 2014, *Tracking in middle school: A surprising ally in pursuit of equity?* Thomas B. Fordham Institute, Dayton, OH.

Lubinski, D 2016, 'From Terman to today: A century of findings on intellectual precocity', *Review of Educational Research*, vol. 86, pp. 900-944.

Lupkowsi-Shoplik, A, Assouline, S & Colangelo, N, 2015, 'Whole-grade acceleration: grade skipping and early entrance to kindergarten or first grade', in S Assouline, N Colangelo, J VanTassel-Baska & A Lupkowski-Shoplik (eds), *A nation empowered: Evidence trumps the excuses holding back America's brightest students*, The Connie Belin & Jacqueline N. Blank International Centre for Gifted Education and Talent Development, Iowa City, IA, pp. 53-72.

Maddocks, D 2018, The identification of students who are gifted and have a learning disability: A comparison of different diagnostic criteria, *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 2, pp. 175-192.

Martin, A 2016, Using Load Reduction Instruction (LRI) to boost motivation and engagement, British Psychological Society, Leicester, UK.

Makel, M, Lee, S, Olszewski-Kubilius, P & Putallaz, M 2012, 'Changing the pond, not the fish: Following high ability students across different educational environments', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, no. 104, vol. 3, pp. 778–792.

Maker, C & Schiever, S 2014, *Curriculum development and teaching strategies for gifted learners*, PRO-ED, Austin, TX.

Maker, C 1982, *Curriculum development for the gifted*, Aspen, Rockville, MD.

Marsh, H, Abduljabbar, A, Morin, A, Parker, P, Abdelfattah, F, Nagengast, B & Abu-Hilal, M 2015, 'The big-fish-little-pond effect: Generalizability of social comparison processes over two age cohorts from Western, Asian, and Middle Eastern Islamic countries', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 107, no. 1, pp. 258–271. Matthews M, & Farmer J 2017, 'Predicting academic achievement growth among low-income Mexican American learners using dynamic and static assessments', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 26, no. 1.

Mayes, R & Moore, J 2016, 'Adversity and pitfalls of twiceexceptional urban learners', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 167-189.

McBee, M & Makel, M, 2019, 'The quantitative implications of definitions of giftedness', *AERA Open*, vol. 5, no. 1.

McBee, M, Peters, S & Miller, E 2016, 'The impact of the nomination stage on gifted program identification: A comprehensive psychometric analysis', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 258-278.

McBee, M, Peters, S & Waterman, C 2014, 'Combining scores in multiple-criteria assessment systems: The impact of combination rule', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 69-89.

McCann, M 2005, 'Our greatest natural resource: Gifted education in Australia', *Gifted Education International*, vol. 19, pp. 90-106.

McCoach, D, Gubbins, E, Foreman, J, DaVia Rubenstein, L & Rambo-Hernandez, K 2014, 'Evaluating the efficacy of using predifferentiated and enriched mathematics curricula for Grade 3 students: A multisite cluster-randomized trial', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 272-286.

McCoach, D, Kehle, T, Bray, M & Siegle, D 2001, 'Best practices in the identification of gifted students with learning disabilities', *Psychology in Schools*, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 403-411.

McCoach, D, Yu, H, Gottfried, A, & Gottfried, A 2017, 'Developing talents: A longitudinal examination of intellectual ability and academic achievement', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 7-28.

Memmert, D 2007, 'Can creativity be improved by an attentionbroadening training program? An exploratory study focusing on team sports', *Creativity Research Journal* 19, pp. 281-291.

Merrotsy, P 2013, 'Invisible gifted students', *Talent Development & Excellence*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 31-42.

Miller, L 2004, Promoting sustained growth in the representation of African Americans, Latinos, and Native Americans among top students in the United States at all levels of the education system (RM04190), The National Research Center on the Gifted and Talented, Storrs: CT.

Missett, T, Brunner, M, Callahan, C, Moon, T, and Azano, A 2014, 'Exploring teacher beliefs and use of acceleration, ability grouping, and formative assessment', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 245-268.

Moon, S, Feldhusen, J & Dillon, D 1994, 'Long-term effects of an enrichment program based on the Purdue Three-Stage model', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 38-48.

Moon, T 2012, 'Uses and misuses of matrices in identifying gifted students: considerations for better practice', in C Callahan & H Hertberg-Davis, *Fundamentals of gifted education: Considering multiple perspectives*, Routledge, New York, NY.

Morgan P, Farkas G, Hillemeier M & Maczuga S, 2016, 'Science achievement gaps begin very early, persist, and are largely explained by modifiable factors', *Educational Researcher*, vol. 45, pp. 18-35.

Munro, J, 2012, Effective strategies for implementing differentiated instruction, *2009-2018 ACER Research Conferences*, ACER, Melbourne.

Narr, K, Woods, R, Thompson, P, Szeszko, P, Robinson, D, Dimtcheva, M, Toga, A & Bilder, R, 2007, 'Relationships between IQ and regional cortical gray matter thickness in healthy adults', *Cerebral Cortex*, vol. 17, pp. 2163-2171.

Navas-Sanchez, F, Carmona, S, Aleman-Gomez, Y, Sanchez-Gonzalez, J, Guzman-de-Viloria, J, Franco, C, Robles, O, Arango, C & Desco, M 2016, 'Cortical morphometry in frontoparietal and default mode networks in math-gifted adolescents', *Human Brain Mapping*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 1892-1902.

Needels, M & Gage, N 1991, 'Essence and accident in processproduct research on teaching', in H Waxman & H Walberg (eds), *Effective teaching: Current research* (pp. 3-31), McCutchan, Berkeley, CA.

Neihart, M 1999, 'The impact of giftedness on psychological wellbeing: What does the empirical literature say?', *Roeper Review*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 10-17.

Neihart, M 2007, 'The socio-affective impact of acceleration and ability grouping: Recommendations for best practice', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 330-341.

Nomi, T 2010, 'The effects of within-class ability grouping on academic achievement in early elementary years', *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 56-92.

NSW Department of Education and Training 2006, *Identification of students from culturally diverse backgrounds: Coolabah Dynamic Assessment Tool*, NSW Department of Education and Training, Sydney, NSW.

NSW Department of Education 2018, *Review of selective education access: Findings and action plan,* NSW Department of Education, Sydney, https://education.nsw.gov.au/about-us/strategies-and-reports/our-reports-and-reviews/review-of-selective-education-access/Review-of-Selective-Education-Access.pdf

O'Boyle M, Cunnington R, Silk T, Vaughan D, Jackson G, Syngeniotis A & Egan G, 2005, 'Mathematically gifted male adolescents activate a unique brain network during mental rotation', *Brain Research Cognitive Brain Research*, vol. 25, pp. 583–587.

O'Boyle, M, 2008, 'Mathematically gifted children: Developmental brain characteristics and their prognosis for well-being', *Roeper Review*, vol. 30, pp. 181–186.

Olszewski-Kubilius, P & Lee, S 2004, 'Parent perceptions of the effects of the Saturday enrichment program on gifted students' talent development', *Roeper Review*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 156-165.

Olszewski-Kubilius, P & Thomson, D 2010, 'Gifted programming for poor or minority urban students: Issues and lessons learnt', *Gifted Child Today*, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 58-64.

Olszewski-Kubilius, P, Steenbergen-Hu, S, Thomson, D & Rosen, R 2017, 'Minority achievement gaps in STEM: Finding of a longitudinal study of Project Excite', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 61, no. 1, pp. 20-39.

Olszewski-Kubilius, P, Lee, S, Ngoi, M & Ngoi, D 2004, 'Addressing the achievement gap between minority and non-minority children by increasing access to gifted programs', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 127-158. Olszewski-Kubilius, P, Subotnik, R, & Worrell, F 2017, 'The role of domains in the conceptualisation of talent', *Roeper Review*, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 59-69.

Olszewski-Kubilius, P & Corwith, S 2018, 'Poverty, academic achievement, and giftedness: a literature review', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 37-55.

Ott Schacht, C & Kiewra, K 2018, 'The fastest humans on earth: Environmental surroundings and family influences that spark talent development in Olympic speed skaters, *Roeper Review*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 21-45.

Ozturk, M & Debelak, C 2008, 'Affective benefits from academic competitions for middle school gifted students', *Gifted Child Today*, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 48-53.

Pachman, M, Sweller, J & Kalyuga, S 2013, 'Levels of knowledge and deliberate practice', *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 108-119.

Park, G, Lubinski, D & Benbow, C 2007, 'Contrasting intellectual patterns predict creativity in the arts and sciences: tracking intellectually precocious youth over 25 years', *Psychological Science*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 948-952.

Parliament of Victoria, 2012, 'Strategies for educating gifted students: What works?', in Parliament of Victoria (ed.), *Inquiry into the education of gifted & talented students*, Ch. 5, Victorian Government, Melbourne.

Pearson, C 2012, 'Recruitment of Indigenous Australians with linguistic and numeric disadvantages', *Research and Practice in Human Resource Management*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 66-80.

Pekrun, R, Hall, N, Goetz, T & Perry, R 2014, 'Boredom and academic achievement: Testing a model of reciprocal causation', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 106, no. 3, pp. 696-710.

Penke, L, Maniega, S, Bastin, M, Hernandez, M, Murray, C, Royle, N & Deary, I 2012, 'Brain white matter tract integrity as a neural foundation for general intelligence', *Molecular Psychiatry*, vol. 17, no. 10, pp. 1026–1030.

Peters, S 2016, 'The bright versus gifted comparison: A distraction from what matters', *Gifted Child Today*, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 125-127.

Peters, S & Jolly, J 2018, 'The influence of professional development in gifted education on the frequency of instructional practices', Australian Educational Researcher, vol. 45, no. 2.

Peters, S, Matthews, M, McCoach, D & McBee, M 2014, *Beyond gifted education: Designing and implementing advanced academic programs,* Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Peters, S, Rambo-Hernandez, K, Makel, M, Matthews, M & Plucker, J 2017, 'Should millions of students take a gap year? Large numbers of students start the school year above grade level', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 229-238.

Peters, S, Rambo-Hernandez, K, Makel, M, Matthews, M, Plucker, J 2019, 'Effect of local norms on racial and ethnic representation in gifted education', AERA Open, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 1-18

Peterson, J & Colangelo, N 1996, 'Gifted achievers and underachievers: A comparison of patterns found in school files', *Journal of Counseling and Development*, vol. 74, no. 4, pp. 399-407. Plominski, A, & Burns, L 2018, 'An investigation of student psychological wellbeing: Honors versus nonhonors undergraduate education', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp 5-28.

Plucker, J & Callahan, C 2014, *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says*, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Plucker, J & Peters, S 2018, 'Closing poverty-based excellence gaps: Conceptual, measurement, and educational issues', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 56-67.

Plucker, J, Burroughs, N & Song, R 2010, *Mind the (other) gap!: The growing excellence gap in K-12 education*, Center for Evaluation and Education Policy, Bloomington, IN.

Plucker, J, Hardesty J, & Burroughs, N 2013, *Talent on the sidelines: Excellence gaps and America's persistent talent underclass,* Center for Education Policy Analysis, University of Connecticut, Storrs, CT.

Plucker, J & Peters, S 2016, *Excellence gaps in education: Expanding opportunities for talented students*, 2nd edn, Harvard Education Press, Boston, MA.

Potts, J 2019, 'Profoundly gifted students' perspections of virtual classrooms', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 63, no. 1, pp. 58-80.

Preckel, F, Baudson, T, Krolak-Schwerdt, S & Glock, S 2015, 'Gifted and maladjusted? Implicit attitudes and automatic associations related to gifted children', *American Educational Research Journal*, vol. 52, no. 6, pp. 1160-1184.

Prescott, J, Gavrilescu, M, Cunnington, R, O'Boyle, M & Egan, G, 2010, 'Enhanced brain connectivity in math gifted adolescents: An fMRI study using mental rotation', *Cognitive Neuroscience*, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 277-288.

Pressey, S 1949, 'Educational acceleration: Appraisal of basic problems', *Bureau of Educational Research Monograph* No. 31, The Ohio State University Press, Columbus, OH.

Rambo, K & McCoach, D 2012, 'Teacher attitudes toward subjectspecific acceleration: Instrument development and validation', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 129-152.

Rance-Roney, J 2004, 'The affective dimension of second culture/ second language acquisition in gifted students', in D Boothe & J Stanley (eds), *In the eyes of the beholder: Critical issues for diversity in gifted education*, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX. (pp. 73-85).

Rankin, F & Vialle, W 1996, 'Early entry: A policy in search of practice', *Australian Journal of Early Childhood*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 6–11.

Raven, J 2000, 'The Raven's progressive matrices: change and stability over culture and time', *Cognitive Psychology*, vol. 41, no. 1, pp. 1-48.

Reis, S & Renzulli, J 2009, 'Myth 1: The gifted and talented constitute one single homogeneous group and giftedness is a way of being that stays in the person over time and experiences', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 53, no. 4, pp. 233-235.

Reis, S, & McCoach, D 2000, 'The underachievement of gifted students: what do we do and where do we go?', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 44, pp. 152-170.

Reis, S, Baum, S & Burke, E 2014, 'An operational definition of twice-exceptional learners: implications and applications', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 217-230.

Reis, S, Burns, D & Renzulli, J 1992, *Curriculum Compacting*, Creative Learning Press Inc, New York, NY.

Reis, S, McCoach, D, Little, C, Muller, L & Kaniskan, R 2011, 'The effects of differentiated instruction and enrichment pedagogy on reading achievement in five elementary schools', *American Educational Research Journal*, 48, 462-501.

Renzulli, J & Reis, S 1997, *The school-wide enrichment model: A how-to guide for educational excellence*, 2nd edn, Creative Learning Press, Mansfield Center, CT.

Renzulli, J 1994, 'Schools for talent development: A practical plan for total school improvement', Creative Learning Press, Mansfield Center, CT.

Renzulli, J 1997, *How to develop an authentic enrichment cluster*, National Research Centre on the Gifted and Talented, ERIC Document reproduction service no. ED 420594.

Richert, E 1991, 'Rampant problems and promising practices in identification', in N Colangelo & G Davis, *Handbook of gifted education*, Allyn and Bacon, Boston.

Riley, L 2011, 'Competitions for showcasing innovative and creative talents', *Gifted and Talented International*, vol. 26, no. 1-22, pp. 63-70.

Rimm, S 2002, 'Peer pressures and social acceptance of gifted students', in M Neihart, S Reis, N Robertson & S Moon (eds), *The Social and emotional development of gifted children: What do we know?*, NAGC, Washington, pp. 13-18.

Rinderman, H & Thompson, J 2011, 'The Effect of Cognitive Ability on Wealth, as Mediated Through Scientific Achievement and Economic Freedom', *Psychological Science*, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 754-763.

Rindermann, H 2007, 'The big G-factor of national cognitive ability, *European Journal of Personality*', vol. 21, pp. 767–787.

Robinson, A, Shore, B & Enersen, D 2007, *Best practices in gifted education: an evidence-based guide*, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX.

Robinson, N, Abbott, R, Berninger, V, Busse, J & Mukhopadhyay, S 1997, 'Developmental changes in mathematically precocious young children: Longitudinal and gender effects', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 41, pp. 145-158.

Robinson, N, Lanzi, R, Weinberg, R, Ramey, S & Ramey, C 2002, 'Family factors associated with high academic competence in former Head Start children at third grade', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 46, no. 4, pp. 278-290.

Robinson, A, Adelson J, Kidd, K & Cunningham, C 2018, 'A talent for tinkering: Developing talents in children from low-income households through engineering curriculum', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp 130-144.

Robinson, J 2008, 'Evidence of a differential effect of ability grouping on the reading achievement growth of languageminority Hispanics', *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, vol. 30, pp. 141-180.

Rosenshine, B 2009, 'The empirical support for direct instruction', in S. Tobias & T. Duffy (eds), *Constructivist instruction: Success or failure?* Routledge: New York, NY.

Rosenthal, R & Jacobson, L 1992, *Pygmalion in the classroom: Teacher expectation and pupils' intellectual development,* Crown House, Carmarthen. Roedell, W 1989, 'Early Development of gifted children', in J VanTassel-Baska & P Olszewski-Kubilius (eds), *Patterns of influence on gifted learners: The home, the self, and the school,* Teachers College Press, New York, NY, pp. 13-28.

Roeper, A 1982, 'How the gifted cope with their emotions', *Roeper Review*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 127-130.

Rogers, K 1993, 'Grouping the gifted and talented: Questions and answers', *Roeper Review*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 8-12.

Rogers, K 2007, 'Lessons learned about educating the gifted and talented: A synthesis of the research on educational practice', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 51, no. 4, pp. 382-396.

Rogers, K, 2015, 'Academic effects research synthesis', in S Assouline, N Colangelo, J VanTassel-Baska & A Lupkowski-Shoplik (eds), *A nation empowered: Evidence trumps the excuses holding back America's brightest students*, The Connie Belin & Jacqueline N. Blank International Centre for Gifted Education and Talent Development, Iowa City, IA, pp. 19-30.

Rowley, J 2008, 'Teaching strategies to facilitate learning for gifted and talented students', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 36-42.

Rowley, J 2012, 'Professional development needs of teachers to identify and cater for gifted students', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 75-80.

Ruthsatz J, Ruthsatz-Stephens, K & Ruthsatz, K 2014, 'The cognitive bases of exceptional abilities in child prodigies by domain: Similarities and differences', *Intelligence*, vol. 44, pp. 11-14.

Sarason, S 1996, *Revisiting 'The culture of the school and the problem of change'*, Teachers College Press, New York, NY.

Seeley, K 1993, 'Gifted students at risk', in L Silervman (ed.), *Counseling the gifted and talented*, Love, Denver, CO.

Shaw, P, Greenstein, D, Lerch, J, Clasen, L, Lenroot, R, Gogtay, N, Evans, A, Rapoport, J & Giedd, J, 2006 'Intellectual ability and cortical development in children and adolescents', *Nature*, vol. 440, pp. 676-679.

Shurkin, J 1992, *Terman's Kids: the groundbreaking study of how the gifted grow up*, Little, Brown & Co, Boston, MA.

Siegle, D & McCoach, D 2002, 'Promoting a positive achievement attitude with gifted and talented students', in M Neihart, M Reis, M, Robinson & S Moon (eds), *The social and emotional development of gifted children: What do we know?*, Prufrock Press: Waco, TX.

Siegle, D & Powell, T 2004, 'Exploring teacher biases when nominating students for gifted programs', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 21-29.

Siegle, D, McCoach, D & Roberts, A 2017, 'Why I believe I achieve determines whether I achieve', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 43-58.

Sisk, D 1988, 'The bored and disinterested gifted child: Going through school lockstep', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 5-18.

Slavin, R 1987, 'Ability grouping and student achievement in elementary schools: A best-evidence synthesis', *Review of Educational Research*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 293-336. Slavin, R 1990, 'Achievement effects of ability grouping in secondary schools: A best-evidence synthesis', *Review of Educational Research*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 471-499.

Smith, S 2015, 'A dynamic differentiation framework for talent enhancement: Findings from syntheses and teachers' perspectives, *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 59-72.

Smith, S, North, B & Martin, A 2016. 'Socio-affective influences on gifted students in enrichment programs: The Tournament of the Minds experience', paper presented at the 2016 AAEGT National Gifted Conference, Sydney, Australia, 01 October.

Southern, W 2003, 'Types of Acceleration: dimensions and issues, in N Colangelo, S Assouline, and M Gross (eds), *A nation deceived: How schools hold back America's brightest students: The Templeton National Report on Acceleration*, Belin-Blank Center for Gifted Education and Talent Development, Iowa City, IA.

Speirs-Neumeister, K 2016, 'Perfectionism in gifted students', in M Neihart, S Pfeiffer & T Cross (eds), *The social and emotional development of gifted children: What do we know?* 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX, pp. 29–40.

Speirs Neumeister, K 2017, 'Perfectionism in gifted students', in J Stoeber (ed.), *The Psychology of Perfectionism: Theory, Research, Applications,* London: Routledge Press.

Sriprakash, A, Proctor, H & Hu, C 2016, 'Visible pedagogic work: parenting, private tutoring, and educational advantage in Australia', *Discourse: Studies in the cultural politics of education*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 426-441.

Steenbergen-Hu, S & Moon, S 2011, 'The effects of acceleration on high-ability learners: A meta-analysis', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 55, no. 1, pp. 39-53.

Steenbergen-Hu, S, & Olszewski-Kubilius, P 2017, 'Factors that contributed to gifted students' success on stem pathways: The role of race, personal interests, and aspects of high school experience', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 99-134.

Steenbergen-Hu, S, Makel, M & Olszewski-Kubilius, P 2016, 'What one hundred years of research says about the effects of ability grouping and acceleration on K-12 students' academic achievement: findings of two second-order meta-analyses', *Review* of Educational Research, vol. 86, no. 4, pp. 849-899.

Sternberg, R 2018, *The Nature of Human Intelligence*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Stoeger, H, Hopp, M & Ziegler, A 2017, 'Online Mentoring as an extracurricular measure to encourage talented girls in STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics): An empirical study of one-on-one versus group mentoring', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 61, no. 3.

Stoeger, H, Olszewski-Kubilius, P, Subotnik, R, Assouline, S, Betsy McCoach, D & Ziegler, A 2017, 'Theoretical approaches, societal issues, and practical implications for school-based and extracurricular talent development: Outcomes of the Inaugural European–North American Summit on Talent Development (Part II)', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 1-6.

Subotnik, R & Rickoff, R 2010, 'Should eminence based on outstanding innovation be the goal of gifted education and talent development? Implications for policy and research', *Learning and Individual Differences* vol. 20, pp. 358-364.

Subotnik, R, Olszewski-Kubilius, P & Worrell, F 2011, 'Rethinking giftedness and gifted education: a proposed direction forward based on psychological science', *Psychological Science in the Public Interest*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 3-54.

Südkamp, A, Kaiser, J & Möeller, J 2012, 'Accuracy of teachers' judgments of students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 104, no. 3, pp. 743-762.

Swan, B, Coulombe-Quach, X-L, Huang, A, Godek, J, Becker, D & Zhou, Y 2015, 'Meeting the needs of gifted and talented students: Case study of a virtual learning lab in a rural middle school, *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 294-319.

Tannenbaum, A 1983, *Gifted children: Psychological and educational perspectives*, Macmillan: New York.

Terrassier, J-C 2011, 'Priority to early identification: Better prevention than remediation', *Talent Development & Excellence*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 101-103.

Thomas, M, Ansari, D & Knowland, V 2019, 'Annual research review: Educational neuroscience: progress and prospects', *Journal* of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, vol. 60, no. 4.

Thompson, A & King, K 2015 *Australian Mensa Gifted Children's Survey Summary Report,* Australian Mensa: Midlands, WA.

Thraves, G & Bannister-Tyrrell, M 2017, 'Australian Aboriginal peoples and giftedness: A diverse issue in need of a diverse response', *TalentEd*, vol. 29, pp. 18-31.

Tieso, C 2005, 'The effects of grouping practices and curricular adjustments on achievement', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 60-89.

Tomlinson, C & Jarvis, J 2014, 'Case studies of success: supporting academic success for students with high potential from ethnic minority and economically disadvantaged backgrounds', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 191-219.

Tomlinson, C 2001, *How to differentiate instruction in mixed-ability classrooms*, 2nd edn, ASCD, Alexandria, VA.

Tomlinson, C, Brighton, C, Hertberg, H, Callahan, C, Moon, T, Brimijoin, K, Conover, L & Reynolds, T 2004, 'Differentiating instruction in response to student readiness, interest, and learning profile in academically diverse classrooms: A review of literature', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 27, nos. 2-3, pp. 119-145.

Trautwein, U, Lüdtke, O, Marsh, H & Nagy, G 2009, 'Within school social comparison: How students perceive the standing of their class predicts academic self-concept', *Journal of Educational Psychology*, vol. 101, no. 4, pp. 853-866.

Turner, J & Junture, J 2018, 'Perceptions of the home environments of graduate students raised in poverty', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 29, no. 2, pp 91-115.

Umbreit, J, Lane, K & Dejud, C 2004, 'Improving classroom behavior by modifying task difficulty effects of increasing the difficulty of too-easy tasks', *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp.13-20.

Vandervert, L 2009, 'Working memory, the cognitive functions of the cerebellum and the child prodigy', in L Shavinina, *International Handbook on Giftedness*. Springer, Netherlands.

Van Geel, M, Keuning, T, Frerejean, J, Dolmans, D, van Merrienboer, J & Vissher, A 2019, 'Capturing the complexity of differentiated instruction', *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 51-67.

VanTassel-Baska, J 1992, 'Educational decision making on acceleration and grouping', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 68-72.

VanTassel-Baska, J 1986, 'Effective curriculum and instructional models for talented students', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 164-169.

VanTassel-Baska, J & Hubbard, G 2016, 'Classroom-based strategies for advanced learners in rural settings', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 285-310.

VanTassel-Baska, J, Bracken, B, Feng, A & Brown, E 2009, 'A longitudinal study of enhancing critical thinking and reading comprehension in Title I classrooms', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 7-37.

VanTassel-Baska, J & Stambaugh, T 2005, 'Challenges and possibilities for serving gifted learners in the regular classroom', *Theory Into Practice*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 211–217.

Vasilevska, S 2005, 'Cultural conceptions of giftedness: Australian research on Aboriginal perceptions', *Gifted Education International*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 126-131.

Vaughn, S 1989, 'Gifted learning disabilities: Is it such a bright idea?', *Learning Disabilities Focus*, vol. 4, pp. 123-126.

Vialle, W & Gibson, K 2007, 'The Australian Aboriginal view of giftedness', in S Phillipson & M McCan (eds), *Conceptions of Giftedness*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, NJ, pp. 197-224.

Vialle, W & Tischler, K 2009, 'Gifted students' perceptions of the characteristics of effective teachers', in D Wood (ed.), *The gifted challenge: Challenging the gifted*, Merrylands, NSW, pp. 115-124.

Vialle, W, & Rogers, K 2012, 'Gifted, talented, or educationally disadvantaged? The case for including 'giftedness' in teacher education programs', in C Forlin (ed.), *Future directions for inclusive teacher education: An international perspective*, Routledge, London, UK.

Wai, J & Worrell, F 2016, 'Helping disadvantaged and spatially talented students fufil their potential', *Policy Insights from the Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 122-128.

Walsh, R & Jolly, J 2018, 'Gifted education in the Australian context', *Gifted Child Today*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 81-88.

Wiliam, D 2011, *How do we prepare students for a world we cannot imagine?*, Salzburg Global Seminar, December.

Wilke, M, Sohn, J, Byars, A, & Holland, S, 2003, 'Bright spots: correlations of gray matter volume with IQ in a normal pediatric population', *Neuroimage*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 202-215.

Willis, J, Dumont, R, & Kaufman 2011, 'Factor-analytic models of intelligence', in R Sternberg & S Kaufman (eds), *Cambridge handbooks in psychology: The Cambridge handbook of intelligence*, Cambridge, UK, pp. 39-57.

Wai, J & Worrell, F 2016, 'A nation at risk – how gifted, low-income kids are left behind', *The Conversation*, 21 March.

Wai, J & Rinderman, H 2017, 'What goes into high educational and occupational achievement? Education, brains, hard work, networks, and other factors', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 127-145.

Walsh, R, Kemp, C, Hodge, K & Bowes, J 2012, 'Searching for evidence-based practice: a review of the research on educational interventions for intellectually gifted children in the early childhood years', *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, vol. 35, no. 2, pp. 102-128.

Warne, R 2017, 'Possible economic benefits of full-grade acceleration', *Journal of School Psychology*, vol. 65, pp. 54-68.

Wellisch, M 2017, 'Re-introduction of cognitive screening for all school children', *Australasian Journal of Gifted Education*, vol. 26, no. 1.

White, S, Graham, L & Blaas, S 2018, 'Why do we know so little about the factors associated with gifted underachievement? A systematic literature review', *Educational Research Review*, vol. 24, pp. 55-66.

Whitlock, M & DuCette, J 1989, 'Outstanding and average teachers of the gifted: A comparative study', *Gifted Child Quarterly*, vol. 33, no. 11, pp. 15-21.

Wiggins, G 1998, Educative assessment: Designing assessments to inform and improve student performance, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco, CA.

Wiley, K & Hébert, T 2014, 'Social and emotional traits of gifted youth', in J Plucker & C Callahan (eds), *Critical issues and practices in gifted education: What the research says*, 2nd edn, Prufrock Press, Waco, TX, pp. 593–608.

Wilke, M, Sohn, J, Byars, A & Holland S, 2003, 'Bright spots: correlations of gray matter volume with IQ in a normal pediatric population', *Neuroimage*, vol. 20, pp. 202-215.

Willis, J, Dumont, R & Kaufman, A 2011, 'Factor-analytic models of intelligence', in R Sternberg & S Kaufman (eds), *The Cambridge handbook of intelligence*, pp. 39-57, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK.

Wills, L & Munro, K 2001, 'Changing the teaching for underachieving able children: The Ruyton School experience', in D Montgomery (ed.), *Able underachievers*, Whurr, London, UK.

Woodward, J & Kaylan-Masih, V 1990, 'Loneliness, coping strategies and cognitive styles of the gifted rural adolescent', *Adolescence*, vol. 25, no. 100, pp. 977-988.

Wormald, C 2011, 'Teachers' knowledge of gifted learning disabled students in NSW', in C Wormald & W Vialle (eds), *Dual exceptionality*, Australian Association for the Education of the Gifted and Talented, Wollongong.

Wormald, C & Vialle, W 2011, *Dual exceptionality*, AAEGT, Wollongong, NSW.

Wu, E 2017, 'Paving the way for differentiated instruction in rural classrooms under common core state standards: an interview with Carolyn Callahan', *Journal of Advanced Academics*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 51-65.

Wyner, J, Bidgeland, J & Diluilo, J 2009, *Achievementrap: How America is failing millions of high-achieving students from lower-income families,* rev. edn, Jack Kent Cooke Foundation & Civic Enterprises, New York, NY.

Yeung, A, Jin, P & Sweller, J 1998, 'Cognitive load and learner expertise: Split attention and redundancy effects in reading with explanatory notes', *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 1-21.

Ysseldyke, J & Tardrew, S 2007, 'Use of a progress monitoring system to enable teachers to differentiate mathematics instruction', *Journal of Applied School Psychology*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1-28.

Zeidner, M 2017, 'Tentative guidelines for the development of an ability-based emotional intelligence intervention program for gifted students', *High Ability Studies*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 29-41.

Author: Dr Ben North and Kate Griffiths

Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation GPO Box 33, Sydney NSW 2001, Australia

Visit our website to subscribe to the CESE newsletter

<u>02</u> 7814 1<u>527</u>

🥑 @nswcese y≑ Yammer

info@cese.nsw.gov.au cese.nsw.gov.au

© NSW Department of Education June 2019

Please cite this publication as:

Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (2019), Revisiting Gifted Education, NSW Department of Education, https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/publications-filter/revisiting-gifted-education

